Clinical manifestations of hereditary cystic kidney disease

Rajeev Rohatgi

Departments of Medicine and Pediatrics, The Mount Sinai School of Medicine, One Gustave L. Levy Place, New York, New York 10029

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD)
 - 3.1. Genetics
 - 3.2. Clinical Manifestations
 - 3.2.1. Epidemiology
 - 3.2.2. Renal Manifestations
 - 3.2.2.1. Hypertension
 - 3.2.2.2. Urinary concentrating ability
 - 3.2.2.3. Cystic complications
 - 3.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations
 - 3.2.3.1. Hepatic cysts
 - 3.2.3.2. Vascular complications
 - 3.2.3.3. Miscellaneous
- 4. Autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD)
- 4.1. Genetics
 - 4.2. Clinical Manifestations
 - 4.2.1. Epidemiology
 - 4.2.2. Renal Manifestations
 - 4.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations
- 5. Nephronophthisis (NPHP)-Medullary Cystic Kidney Disease (MCKD) complex
 - 5.1. Nephronopthisis (NPHP)
 - 5.1.1. Genetics
 - 5.1.2. Clinical Manifestations
 - 5.1.2.1. Epidemiology
 - 5.1.2.2. Renal Manifestations
 - 5.1.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations
 - 5.2. Medullary Cystic Kidney Disease (MCKD)
 - 5.2.1. Genetics
 - 5.2.2. Clinical Manifestations
 - 5.2.2.1. Epidemiology
 - 5.2.2.2. Renal Manifestations
 - 5.2.2.3. Hyperuricemia
- 6. Bardet-Biedl Syndrome (BBS)
 - 6.1. Genetics
 - 6.2. Clinical Manifestations
 - 6.2.1. Epidemiology

 - 6.2.2. Renal Manifestations
 - 6.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations
- 7. Oral-Facial-Digital Syndrome 1 (OFD1)
 - 7.1. Genetics
 - 7.2. Clinical Manifestations
 - 7.2.1 Epidemiology
 - 7.2.2. Renal Manifestations
 - 7.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations
- 8. Miscellaneous hereditary PKD syndromes
 - 8.1. ADPKD associated with Tuberous Sclerosis (TSC)
 - 8.2. ADPKD associated with von Hippel-Lindau
- 9. Therapeutics in PKD
- 10. Conclusions
- 11. Acknowledgments
- 12. References

1. ABSTRACT

Genetic mutations of discrete loci are the cause of a diverse array of polycystic kidney disease syndromes which present in distinct, as well as overlapping, phenotypic and hereditary patterns. Since molecular diagnostics are not currently a feasible clinical tool for the diagnosis of most cystic kidney diseases, physicians must rely upon their clinical acumen and knowledge base in order to identify these patients. The goal of this manuscript is to review the hereditary patterns, basic epidemiology, and phenotypic features of the most common of the cystic renal diseases so as to increase the awareness of these renal diseases among practicing physicians. Specifically, the genetic and phenotypic features of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease, autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease, nephronopthisis-medullary cystic kidney disease complex, Bardet-Biedl syndrome, and oral-facial-digital syndrome type 1 will be reviewed.

2. INTRODUCTION

Hereditary polycystic kidney disease represents a diverse spectrum of renal diseases with distinct patterns of inheritance, phenotypic expression and pathophysiology. Cyst development and its attendant complications, including renal insufficiency, may be the primary ailment garnering medical attention or a minor part of genetic syndrome. Our focus is to review the clinical spectrum of hereditary cystic kidney diseases so that clinicians are able to identify these patients early and treat them proactively. We will review autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD), autosomal recessive PKD (ARPKD), nephronophthisis (NPHP)-medullary cystic kidney disease (MCKD) complex, Bardet-Biedel syndrome (BBS), orofacial digital syndrome (OFD), tuberous sclerosis, and von Hippel-Lindau disease with an eye towards the genetics of inheritance and their clinical manifestations.

3. AUTOSOMAL DOMINANT POLYCYSTIC KIDNEY DISEASE (ADPKD)

3.1. Genetics

Eighty five percent of ADPKD cases are caused by mutations of the PKD1 locus located on human chromosome 16p13.3 while mutations of PKD2, located on chromosome 4q21, are responsible for the remaining 15% of human cases (1,2). PKD1 related ADPKD is characterized by a relatively aggressive renal phenotype with renal failure by an average age of 54.3 years old while renal failure due to mutations of PKD2 occur 20 years later, at an average age of 74 years old (3). Though commonly found as heterozygous mutations at either PKD1 or PKD2 locus, murine models and human probands have been described which are trans-heterozygotes (single mutated allele at each locus) and they present with a more aggressive renal disease than either single mutant allele alone (4,5). Homozygous mutations at either locus alone have not been described in humans, presumably reflecting a lethal condition that has been experimentally reproduced in mice (6).

Many investigators have sought to correlate genotypic changes with phenotypic manifestations in order to develop insight into the importance of each domain within the polycystin-1 (PC-1) and polycystin-2 (PC-2) proteins encoded by PKD1 and PKD2, respectively. However, no mutation "hot spot" has been identified within the PKD1 and PKD2 loci. Instead, investigators have discovered 298 PKD1 and 106 PKD2 unique mutations and these are assembled in the ADPKD Mutation Database maintained at the Mayo Clinic (http://pkdb.mayo.edu) (7). Although no clear genotype-phenotype correlations have been uncovered, some general associations between the location of mutations and their phenotypic expression have been found. Mutations at the 5' end (amino terminus) of *PKD1* are closely linked to vascular complications and early renal failure compared to 3' (carboxy terminus) mutations. However, the specific type of mutation (missense, frameshift etc) is not associated with particular phenotypic features (8,9). Even with these genotype and phenotype associations, significant intrafamilial phenotypic variability is observed and points to the role of other genetic or environmental factors influencing progression of disease (8-10). For example, dizygotic ADPKD twins develop end stage renal disease (ESRD) at an average of 6.9 years apart from each other while monozygotic twins develop ESRD 2.1 years apart from each other suggesting a role for environmental and genetic factors in renal disease progression (11). Gender also appears to influence renal disease progression as females tend to have lower rates of progression to ESRD than males (12,13).

Renal cyst development is hypothesized to be related to the acquisition of secondary somatic mutations in the wildtype *PKD1* or *PKD2* allele in the "two hit model" of ADPKD, producing clonal expansion and "growth advantage" over the remaining renal tubular epithelia (14-16). Genetic analysis of ADPKD cysts demonstrate that they are monoclonally derived due to a loss of heterozygosity (14). Cyst development occurs in only a minority of tubules (<5%), yet this subset of susceptible tubules is able to induce progressive renal failure (15,17). The mechanism by which this second "hit" occurs to the normal allele is not known, but contributes to the phenotypic variability observed in ADPKD.

3.2. Clinical Manifestations 3.2.1. Epidemiology

ADPKD is the most common genetic renal disease in the world with a prevalence of 1:400 in the United States (US), but with estimates throughout the world that vary from 1:1,111 in France to 1:4,033 in Japan (18-20). It is a cause of renal failure in approximately 4.4% of all ESRD patients and accounts for \sim 2.2-2.4% of incident ESRD patients in the US (21).

3.2.2. Renal Manifestations

Renal cyst development and growth is the primary manifestation of ADPKD and this leads to complications including hypertension, urinary concentrating abnormalities, pain (due to cyst hemorrhage, infection, nephrolithiasis, cancer) and renal failure. See Table 1 for diagnostic criteria for ADPKD.

Cystic Ren Disease	al Gene Affected	Inheritance	Diagnostic Criteria			
ADPKD	PKD1, PKD2	Autosomal Dominant	In pt with positive family history (50% risk) (Ref. 218,219):			
			Renal sonogram			
			Age 15-29 2 cysts (uni- or bi-lateral)			
			Age 30-59 =/>2 cysts in each kidney			
			Age >60 =/>4 cysts in each kidney			
			In pt without family history (unknown risk) (Ref. 220)			
			Exclude unusual clinical features (characteristics seen with other PKD syndrome)			
			+ cysts with <i>small</i> kidneys->acquired cystic disease			
			+ cysts with large kidneys->consider ADPKD; look for other classic features (hepatic			
			cysts, mitral valve prolapse, etc) and consider molecular testing			
ARPKD	PKHD1	Autosomal Recessive	a) Exclude cystic disease in parents (dominant inheritance)			
			b) Renal sonogram with enlarged echogenic kidneys (>95 th percentile), with or without small (<2 cm) cysts			
			c) if above equivocal, abdominal sonogram to look for biliary dysgenesis and/or portal hypertension			
NPHP	NPHP1-6,AHI1	Autosomal Recessive	a)Exclude cystic disease in parents (dominant inheritance)			
			b) Renal sonogram with normal to small echogenic kidneys with or without cortico-			
			medullary or medullary cysts			
			c) Extra-renal manifestations-retinal, neurologic, hepatic, and skeletal			
			d) Progression to ESRD by 30 years of age			
			e) Kidney biopsy for classic findings			
MCKD	MCKD1, 2	Autosomal Dominant	a) Parents with history of cystic kidney disease			
			b) Renal sonogram with normal to small echogenic kidneys with or without cortico-			
			medullary or medullary cysts			
			c) Progression to ESRD after 30 years old			
			d) Hyperuricemia and/or gout			
BBS	BBS1, 2, 3 (ARL6), 4, 5, 6 (MKKS), 7,	Autosomal Recessive (triallelic inheritance)	Diagnosis: 4 or more primary features OR 3 primary and 2 secondary features			
	8 (TTC8), 9 (B1),		Primary features (Ref. 176)			
	10, 11 (TRIM32), 12		Rod-cone dystrophy, Polydactyly, Obesity, Learning disability, Hypogonadism in males, Renal abnormalities			
	12		Secondary features (Ref. 176)			
			Speech disorder/delay; Strabismus/cataracts/astigmatism;			
			Brachydactyly (short)/syndactyly (webbed fingers); Developmental delay			
			Polyuria/polydipsia (nephrogenic diabetes insipidus); Ataxia/poor			
			coordination/imbalance; Mild spasticity (esp lower limbs); Diabetes mellitus; Dental crowding/hypodontia/small roots/high arched palate; Left ventricular			
			hypertrophy/congenital heart disease; Hepatic fibrosis			
OFD type -1	OFD1	X-linked dominant	Female Gender (lethality in males)			
			Oral: Cleft palate, lingual hamartomas, cleft or pseudocleft of lip, bifid or lobulated			
			tongue, hyperplastic and supernumerary buccal frenulae, hypodontia Facial: facial asymmetry, hypertelorism, broad nasal bridge, hypoplasia of nasal alae			
			Digital: brachdactyly, clinodactyly, syndactyly			
			Neurologic: Mental retardation, agenesis of corpus collosum, arachnoid cysts,			
			porencephaly, hydrocephalus			
			Renal: Polycystic kidneys of normal size, small cysts (<1 cm), normal reniform shape,			
			histopathology demonstrates glomerular cysts			

 Table 1. Clinical Criteria for the diagnosis of cystic kidney disease

3.2.2.1. Hypertension

Hypertension is a common early complication of ADPKD often affecting individuals without evidence of renal dysfunction, hematuria or proteinuria (22). Because vascular and cardiovascular diseases are common causes for morbidity and mortality, investigators strongly advocate for early treatment of hypertension (23). However, there is controversy regarding the optimal blood pressure (BP) goal and whether inhibitors of the renin-angiotensin system have a specific benefit in ADPKD.

The Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) study randomized ADPKD patients with glomerular filtration rates (GFRs) of 13-24 ml/min/ $1.73m^2$ to two blood pressure goals; (a) a low BP group where the

goal was a mean arterial pressure (MAP) <92 mm Hg or (b) a standard BP group where the goal was a MAP<107 mm Hg. Patients assigned to the lower BP goal developed a faster decline in renal function than the standard MAP group (24). In a separate arm of the study, patients with GFRs of 25-55 ml/min/1.73m² were similarly randomized to low or standard BP goals, but no difference was seen in the rate of decline in GFR during 2.2 years of intervention and follow up (24). Long term follow up, which occurred ~7 years after completion of the MDRD study, indicated that ADPKD patients with GFRs of 25-55 ml/min/1.73m² randomized to the lower BP target reduced their risk for ESRD (25). Another study randomized 75 ADPKD patients with left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) to a BP target of <120/80 mm Hg or <135-140/85-90 mm Hg, and

then measured the left ventricular mass index (LVMI) and renal function over a period of seven years (26). The decline in renal function was similar between both groups, but LVMI decreased 35% in the lower BP group, but only 21% in the higher BP group (26). Though no study has adequately addressed the question of the optimal BP goal in ADPKD, most experts believe that controlling BP < 130/80 mm Hg as a reasonable goal until studies are designed to answer the question definitively (27).

Inhibition of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEis) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) is also controversial, but several lines of evidence suggest that these antihypertensives may prove beneficial in ADPKD. It is hypothesized that cyst development induces local renal ischemia which activates the RAS (28), whether this translates to systemic activation of the RAS remains controversial (29-31). On the other hand, local, tissue based activation of the RAS has been demonstrated in kidney. Specifically, there is (a) ectopic synthesis of renin from cysts and dilated tubules (32,33), (b) synthesis of chymase-like enzymes that generates local angiotensin II (34), and (c) reduction of renovascular resistance, augmentation of renal blood flow and filtration fraction after administration of ACEi (31,35).

Disruption of the RAS slows the decline in renal function and proteinuria in some human ADPKD studies while others have not shown a difference (36-38). A metaanalysis of eight studies which included 142 ADPKD patients demonstrated that ACEis reduced proteinuria and the decline in renal function in individuals with greater baseline levels of urinary protein excretion (39). Although there is no conclusive evidence to support the use of ACEis or ARBs in ADPKD, the fact that ACEi/ARBs (a) are relatively safe medications with a long history of use in other nephropathies, (b) reduce proteinuria, a marker of progressive kidney disease, and (c) are able to potentially reduce intra-renal activation of RAS, suggests that ACEis and ARBs should be used in ADPKD along with other antihypertensives to achieve BP < 130/80 mm Hg. To better evaluate the efficacy of ACEis and ARBs in ADPKD, a NIH sponsored randomized placebo controlled clinical trial is underway (HALT PKD).

3.2.2.2. Urinary concentrating ability

An inability to maximally concentrate urine is an early manifestation of ADPKD and commonly occurs long before the development of renal insufficiency (40-42). This defect has been described by different groups and is believed to be related to distortion of the medullary architecture (42) and mislocalization or altered expression of aquaporins; however, the latter defect is controversial (43-46). Children with impaired urinary concentrating ability are at greater risk for hypertension (47). In a retrospective analysis of the MDRD, ADPKD patients with the most dilute urine lost GFR at a greater rate per year than individuals with a more concentrated urine (48). In addition individuals that excreted greater volumes of urine (>2.85 L/day) developed the greatest decline in GFR and also exhibited the highest MAP (48). These defects in water metabolism, blood pressure and decline in renal function in PKD did not take on much clinical significance until it was demonstrated that (a) vasopressin type 2 receptor expression was upregulated in PKD and that (b) antagonism of this receptor reduced cyst development (44,49). It has since been proposed that disordered water metabolism is the primary event leading to elevations in vasopressin which in turn induce systemic hypertension through peripheral vasopressin receptors and upregulation of intra-renal Na absorption, and activation of renal vasopressin receptors that induce cyst growth (46).

3.2.2.3. Cystic complications

Renal pain can be caused by cyst hemorrhage, cyst infection, nephrolithiasis and, less commonly, renal cancers. An awareness of these complications coupled with accurate diagnosis and early treatment will help to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with these disorders.

Cyst hemorrhage classically presents with acute flank or abdominal pain and gross hematuria without fever. However, hematuria is not a consistent finding since cysts may be walled off from the nephron from which they were derived, and, thus, do not have access to the urinary tract. Nonetheless, gross and microscopic hematuria are common findings in ADPKD; though this may not necessarily reflect hemorrhage, cyst hemorrhage is commonly inferred (50). Kidney size positively and renal function negatively correlate with the number episodes of hematuria suggesting a relationship between cyst size and the risk of hematuria, or cyst hemorrhage (50).

Identification of hemorrhagic cysts is difficult because cysts often appear hyperdense by computed tomography (CT) or have high density signal by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) which is indicative of blood and/or high protein content within the cyst (7). Treatment is conservative with bed rest and pain management for 2-7 days (51). Occasionally, clot retention can lead to urinary tract obstruction which produces renal colic (51). In these cases patients are treated for longer periods of bed rest, intravenous hydration, and narcotics. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (nsaids) are efficacious for pain management; however, their longer term use can accelerate renal dysfunction and, thus, should generally be avoided (51). If symptoms, specifically pain, hematuria, and fever, last more than 7 days or if this is first episode for a patient over the age of 50 years old, renal carcinoma should be entertained in the differential diagnosis (52).

Cyst infection typically presents with unilateral or bilateral diffuse flank pain associated with fever. Urinalysis may be indicative of infection, but, as with cyst hemorrhage, a walled off infected cyst isolated from the urinary tract may produce a falsely normal urinalysis (51). Upper urinary tract infections are believed to be caused by lower urinary tract infections since (a) the former are commonly caused by enterobacteriaceae, the etiologic agent of lower urinary tract infections and (b) most occur in women, as do lower urinary tract infections (53,54). However, hematogenous spread to cysts of ADPKD kidney has also been reported (53).

Identifying infected cysts pose a diagnostic challenge as CT and MRI are not able to consistently distinguish between infected and uninfected cysts (7,55,56). Nuclear imaging has been advocated (⁶⁷Ga or ¹¹¹In) to localize the source of infection, but false positive and negative results are common (54,57). A recent case series suggests utilizing 18-F-flourodeoxyglucose as a marker for positron emission tomography (PET) scanning since inflammatory cells consume large quantities of glucose (58). Structural studies, like CT and MRI, in combination with functional studies, such as ⁶⁷Ga, ¹¹¹In, and 18-F-flourodeoxyglucose, may more accurately identify infected cysts; however, no such study has been done to date.

Because cyst infections produce an abscess-like space in the kidney, antibiotic penetration into the cyst directed against the offending organism is necessary to resolve the infection. Schwab *et al* found that 15/26 (58%) of cyst infections persisted after five days of antibiotic therapy suggesting they are difficult infections to eradicate (54). Flouroquinolones, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, ampicillin or chloramphenicol are the currently recommended empiric antibiotics of choice because of their ability to achieve high intracystic concentrations, but the final antibiotic chosen should be based on results of blood, urine, and tissue culture (59-62). Finally, if antibiotic therapy does not resolve the infection, surgical or radiologically-guided drainage of the offending cyst is required.

Nephrolithiasis in ADPKD is comprised mostly of uric acid and calcium oxalate stones which affect 20-34% of patients (63,64). Development of stones is related to an acidic urinary pH, presumably due to a defect in urinary ammonia production, urinary citrate production, and urinary stasis secondary to anatomic damage (63). Grampsas et al demonstrated that cyst number and cyst volume were also associated with a greater risk of developing kidney stones (65). The diagnosis of nephrolithiasis is made by CT, and, if parenchymal calcification cannot be distinguished from urinary tract stone, then an excretory urogram can be utilized to delineate the location (66). Urologic management includes shock lithotripsy, or percutaneous nephrolithotomy which are similar therapeutic modalities utilized in patients with non-ADPKD related nephroliathiasis (66,67).

The risk of renal carcinoma in the ADPKD population is not different from that of the non-ADPKD population, and in ADPKD patients on dialysis, the risk is the same as patients with acquired cystic kidney disease (52). These patients commonly present with flank pain, hematuria and fever which can easily be confused with cyst infection or hemorrhage (52). The identification of carcinoma from among the many renal cysts is difficult. Contrast enhanced CT scan is the primary diagnostic modality, but cyst hemorrhage and infection can simulate carcinomas. Some investigators suggest that attenuation coefficients of >30 HU in pre-enhanced images and attenuation coefficients of >95 HU in contrast enhanced images by CT to be highly suspicious of carcinoma (68). If CT is not diagnostic then MRI is recommended (69). While the incidence of renal carcinoma is not different from the general population, the biologic behavior appears altered with a higher incidence of bilateral, multicentric, and sarcomatoid types of renal carcinoma (52). These identified differences partly reflect the selection biases and limitations of the retrospective studies from which most of the carcinoma data is derived.

The initiation and progression of renal cyst growth not only results in complications like cyst hemorrhage, pain and infection, but is primarily responsible for the development of renal failure in ADPKD patients (17). In a seminal study to define the relationship between cyst development and renal failure, 232 non-azotemic ADPKD patients underwent annual MRI imaging to assess cyst and kidney volume, and renal function testing over a period of three years (17). Kidney and cyst volume increased exponentially during the three years of follow up; average initial kidney volumes of 1060 ml increased by 204 ml by the end of the study with an annual increase of 63 ml/year (or 5.3%) (17). Baseline kidney volume predicted the progression of kidney disease. Thus, individuals with the greatest initial kidney volumes (>1500 ml) lost renal function at the greatest rate (17). PKD1 related ADPKD presented with greater kidney volumes, cyst volumes, and cyst number than patients with PKD2 (70) and showed greater increases in total kidney volume (245 ml in PKD1 vs 136 ml in *PKD2*) by the end of the observation period (17). PKD1 mutants tended to lose renal function faster than PKD2 mutants (p=0.06) (17). Men also developed greater increases in kidney volume and cyst volume than women (70). Other risk factors for progressive renal disease in ADPKD include black race, development of hypertension before the age 35, hyperlipidemia, sickle cell trait, and episodes of hematuria before the age of 30 (12.13.71).

3.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations 3.2.3.1 Hepatic cysts

Hepatic cysts in ADPKD are derived from hyperplastic embryonic intrahepatic bile ducts that fail to normally involute. Biliary cystic epithelia separate from the bile ducts from which they were derived, but retain characteristics of the bile duct epithelia, such as responding to secretin (72).

Hepatic cysts are common in ADPKD. In a prospective cohort of young non-azotemic ADPKD patients, investigators found an overall prevalence of hepatic cysts of 83% (73). As with renal cysts, the prevalence of hepatic cysts increases with age from 58% in individuals of 15 to 24 years old to 94% in individuals of 35 to 46 years old (73). Kidney volume and renal cyst volume is also associated with the prevalence of liver cysts (73). The prevalence of hepatic cysts is similar between men and women (79% and 85%, respectively); however, cyst volume is greater in women than men (5.27 ml versus 1.94 ml; p<0.05), and 9.6% of women develop hepatic

cysts of greater than 1 L, but men do not (73). These prospective observational data confirmed what other investigators found in retrospective and cross-sectional studies that hepatic cystic disease is more severe in women than men. Hepatic cyst growth is believed to be estrogen responsive based on the larger cyst volumes seen in women, and pronounced cyst development in women with multiple pregnancies or those taking oral contraceptives (74,75).

Most often hepatic cysts are asymptomatic, but in cases of massive cyst growth, which occur commonly in women, they can cause chronic upper abdominal pain and early satiety and nausea by compressing the gastrointestinal tract (76). Cyst enlargement can compress the biliary tree producing obstructive jaundice, compress the portal veins producing portal hypertension and ascites, and compress the intrahepatic veins inducing ascites and lower extremity edema (76). Typically, these compression syndromes are treated with surgical cyst reduction and fenestration (76). Newer, less invasive radiologic measures include percutaneous transcatheter hepatic artery embolization which is able to reduce liver and cyst volume by approximately 2 L (77). Even with massive cvst enlargement, liver function usually remains normal (78). Thus, liver transplantation is limited to those with unrelenting life threatening complications of hepatic cysts.

As in the case of renal cysts, hepatic cysts can be complicated by hemorrhage and infection. Cyst infection is the most serious complication and so should be identified and treated aggressively. Patients typically present with right upper quadrant pain, fever, and leukocytosis. Blood cultures are positive in ~63% of cases (79), and with needle aspiration of the infected cyst, identification of the causative organism is found in approximately 86% of cases (76). Cyst infection is most often due to monomicrobial gram negative organisms (79). Identifying the infected cyst, as with renal cysts, is difficult. Investigators recommend utilizing CT looking for air-fluid levels, gas bubbles, cyst wall calcification, and heterogenous appearance of cystic fluid; although these signs are suggestive of infection, none are pathognomonic (80,81). 67Ga, 111In-labelled leukocyte scan, and 18-F-fluorodoxyglucose PET have also been used to localize infected hepatic cysts (58,82-84). Treatment includes appropriate antibiotics and percutaneous drainage. In cases where the offending organism is not vet identified ciprofloxacin is the treatment of choice because of its gram negative coverage and high intracystic concentration (79).

3.2.3.2. Vascular complications

Vascular complications are probably the most frightening to patients and the most concerning to physicians because, depending on their size and location, can cause unexpected death and disability. Classically, ADPKD is associated with intracerebral aneurysms (ICA), but it is also associated with other vascular abnormalities including intracranial arterial dolichoectasia (elongation and dilation of the artery), coronary aneurysms, abdominal aortic aneurysms and dissection of the thoracic aorta (85-91).

ICAs occur in 16% of ADPKD patients with a positive family history and in 6% of patients without a family history (92). Indications for ICA screening is controversial and is dependent on the assumptions that are made regarding the prevalence and natural history of ADPKD related ICAs (92). Either helical CT with contrast or MR angiography (MRA) are utilized to screen since both are able to identify aneurysms; however, sensitivity of either exam falls as the aneurysms decrease in size (93,94). MRA has become the screening exam of choice since it does not require iodinated contrast (92). Because surgical treatment, either coil embolization or clipping, places patients at high post-operative neurologic risk, the goal of screening is to identify patients at high short term neurologic risk, treat them, so as to improve the long term functional status (92,95). Some investigators suggest screening young individuals (between 18-35 years old) who have a family history of ICAs because it would identify (a) a high risk group and (b) a group where life can be significantly prolonged (96). If the screening CT or MRA is negative, a follow-up study should be performed every 5 vears (96). A retrospective study found that only 2.6% of ADPKD patients with a negative initial screening test for ICAs were found to have an ICA after a mean of 9.8 years of follow up (97). This cohort was of only moderate risk because it included 43% with a family history of ICA or ruptured ICA and 57% without a family history of ruptured ICA (97).

If patients are found to have ICAs on screening exam, then an angiogram is recommended as the gold standard to determine size of the lesion (96). If the ICA is <6 mm then follow up examination is suggested every two years (96). The screening and treatment recommendations are based on ICAs in non-ADPKD patients since the natural history of ADPKD related aneurysms is not known (96). That being said, a retrospective study illustrated that larger aneurysms are at greater risk for rupture, but that 52% of ruptured aneurysm occurred in patients with ICAs <10 mm (98). The ICAs greater than 6 mm are treated with surgical clipping or coil embolization (96). In sum, screening and treatment guidelines for ICAs in ADPKD are recommendations and, thus, remain a topic for debate since the natural history of these ADPKD related ICAs remain unknown (92). Until a randomized treatment trial of ICAs in ADPKD is completed, clinicians will likely need to follow recommendations developed from non-ADPKD ICA population.

3.2.3.3. Miscellaneous

Cysts have been found in pancreas, arachnoid membrane, and seminal vesicles at a prevalence of 5%, 8%, and 39%, respectively (99-103). Generally, these cysts are asymptomatic.

Mitral valve prolapse is a common cardiac complication occurring in ~25% of patients with ADPKD (104,105). Histologic examination demonstrates myxomatous degeneration and disruption of collagen which suggests abnormalities of the extracellular matrix (106). Routine echocardiographic screening is not recommended unless a clinical sign such as a murmur develops.

Group	Clinical Presentation	Kidney histopathology				
Perinatal	Bilateral large kidneys	>90% dilated tubules				
Neonatal	Bilateral large kidneys	~60% dilated tubules				
Infantile	Bilateral large kidneys with	~25% dilated tubules				
	hepatosplenomegaly					
Juvenile	Primarily	<10% dilated tubules				
	Hepatosplenomegaly					

Table 2. Blyth and Ockenden classification of ARPKD

From Ref 112

AUTOSOMAL RECESSIVE POLYCYSTIC KIDNEY DISEASE (ARPKD)

4.1. Genetics

ARPKD is caused by mutations of the *pkhd1* (polycystic kidney and hepatic disease 1) gene located on human chromosome 6p which encodes the protein fibrocystin/polyductin (107,108). The gene consists of 87 exons which form many alternatively spliced variants, but the longest transcript encodes the fibrocystin/polyductin protein which is generated from 67 exons and produces a 4074 amino acid protein (107,108). The physiologic role of fibrocystin is not known, however, experimental data suggest that it may act as transmembrane receptor or ligand, and functions to regulate collecting duct and biliary epithelial differentiation (109-111).

As the name implies the disease requires mutations in both *pkhd1* alleles in order to develop phenotypic disease. Intrafamilial variability is not as pronounced as in ADPKD. Utilizing a diagnostic classification system based on age at presentation (perinatal, neonatal, infantile, and juvenile), Deget et al compared 20 sibships and found concordant phenotypic expression in 17 (or 85%) of sibships (112,113). On the other hand, Bergmann at el studying 48 pedigrees with more than one affected child found that 28 families maintained concordant phenotypes amongst siblings (114). Together, these two studies included total of 68 ARPKD sibships in which intrafamilial phenotypic variability occurred in \sim 34% (23/68) of the pedigrees (113,114).

Three hundred and five unique mutations have been described in 700 mutant alleles; without a specific mutational "hot spot" identified within the gene (115,116). However, specific populations may have an increased frequency of particular mutations; for example, in individuals of Northern European origin, the T36M mutation is found in 17% of mutant alleles (116,117). This mutation may reflect an ancestral mutation (116,117) or may reflect a mutational "hot spot" since it has recently been found in unrelated ethnic groups (114,118). Most individuals with ARPKD are compound heterozygotes (different mutations at each allele) reflecting the heterogeneity of *pkhd1* mutations found within the Though no strict genotype-phenotype population. correlation exists, in general, homozygous truncating mutations are associated with early/perinatal renal manifestation of ARPKD while homozygous missense or a missense and truncating mutations present with a milder, delayed renal phenotype (115,116,118-120). Commonly, patients that survive the renal complications develop congenital hepatic fibrosis. In contradistinction to

mutations causing aggressive early renal disease, the mutations associated with liver disease tend to have either homozygous missense mutations or one missense and a truncation mutation, like the milder renal phenotype (115,118,121). In sum, truncating mutations induce a severe, perinatal renal phenotype and increase mortality, while missense mutations tend to generate a milder renal phenotype with more prominent hepatic phenotype.

4.2. Clinical Manifestations

4.2.1. Epidemiology

ARPKD is one of the most common hereditary renal diseases in the pediatric population with an incidence of 1:20,000 and a carrier rate of 1:70 (122).

4.2.2. Renal Manifestations

ARPKD classically presents in newborns with large palpable kidneys, oligohydramnios, and pulmonary hypoplasia. Neonatal pulmonary insufficiency is the primary cause of mortality in these patients, though many of these survivors will develop renal insufficiency. Blyth and Ockdenden in 1971 developed a classification system which attempted to define the spectrum of ARPKD disease and focused primarily on the date of presentation of renal disease (Table 2) (112). The perinatal and neonatal presentations of ARPKD were associated with a 28 day mortality rate of $\sim 80\%$ (56/69), the majority of which was caused by respiratory insufficiency due to pulmonary hypoplasia (123). A small minority of these early deaths were attributed to chronic renal failure (123). Though this early study detected a high mortality rate with perinatal/neonatal presentations, patients were selected, partly, using death certificates which biased the study toward its high death rate (123). On the other hand, recent investigation shows that the five year survival rate is ~75% even in populations where the majority of cases studied were of the perinatal/neonatal renal phenotype (124). Nonetheless, significant mortality occurs during the first year of life (8-22%) (124). The risk of death is associated with a vounger age at diagnosis and the development of chronic renal failure (124).

Chronic renal failure is a common complication affecting 33-72% of ARPKD patients with 8-29% developing ESRD (114,121,124,125). In a North American cross-sectional study of ARPKD patients, Guay-Woodford et al divided ARPKD patients into two cohorts: (a) an old cohort (born before January 1990) and (b) a young cohort (born after January 1990). Overall, the younger cohort was diagnosed much earlier (median 1 day) with ARPKD than the older cohort (median 72 days). Though most investigators find that patients with a perinatal/neonatal diagnosis of ARPKD are at the greatest risk of ESRD, these investigators reported that chronic renal failure to be equal between the old and young cohorts at ~40% in each group, but that the older group (diagnosed later) was at much greater risk for ESRD than the younger group (diagnosed earlier) (114,121,124,125). This increased ESRD risk is presumably related to lead time bias in older cohort who lived longer with chronic renal failure and, thus, had more time to develop ESRD than the younger cohort (124). In sum there is variability in the development of renal

insufficiency and its progression to ESRD, but patients with a perinatal presentation, commonly with large cystic kidneys, are at greater risk of developing chronic renal failure, and, presumably, ESRD.

Hypertension is a prevalent manifestation occurring in 65-80% of patients and typically develops before renal impairment is apparent, but is commonly associated with progressive renal dysfunction (114,124-126). As in ADPKD, prospective trial-based evidence is lacking regarding the optimal BP goals and the role of RAS inhibition in reducing the risk of ESRD in ARPKD (127). However, laboratory-based evidence points to an activated intra-renal RAS, as well as enhanced Na absorption, that suggests that ACEi and/or ARBs may be efficacious (128-131).

Hyponatremia is observed variably (15-24%) and is seen from birth until ~4 months of age (124-126). Ninety six percent of those patients who reported a history of hyponatremia also reported a history of hypertension in a cross-sectional study of ARPKD patients (124). The relationship between hyponatremia and hypertension is interesting, especially, because genetic disorders of sodium balance can lead to hypertension (eg Liddle's syndrome) or hypotension (eg pseudohypoaldosteronsim). However, the mechanism underlying hyponatremia and hypertension, and their relationship to each other, remains speculative.

As in the adult form of ADPKD, ARPKD has been associated with a urinary concentrating defect. Gagnadoux *et al* and Kaarinainen *et al* found that 96% (22/23) and 82% (9/11) of ARPKD patients developed significant impairment in urinary concentrating ability (Umax <550 mosm), without progressing to massive polyuria (123,132). The concentrating defect is believed to be caused by diminished medullary interstitial tonicity, partly related to low aldose reductase expression (133).

ARPKD kidneys maintain their reniform shape, but lose their cortico-medullary differentiation. By ultrasonography patients have enlarged echogenic kidneys with or without small cortical cysts (124). Histopathologically, the kidneys are characterized by dilated ectatic collecting ducts which are radially arranged (134). As opposed to ADPKD where these cystic regions ultimately bud off and separate from the nephron, the cysts, or dilated tubules, remain contiguous with the filtering nephron in ARPKD (134,135).

4.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations

The classic hepatic lesion found associated with ARPKD is the ductal plate malformation where dilated irregular bile ducts form a disrupted ring around the portal tract, usually without a centrally located bile duct. Collagenous proteins deposit along the portal tracts which eventually results in bridging fibrosis between portal tracts, but does not disrupt the acinar architecture of the liver. This pathologic entity is known as congenital hepatic fibrosis, and typically presents with portal hypertension, at times complicated by ascending cholangitis, but without hepatocellular dysfunction (136). Other patients develop bile duct cysts, known as Caroli's disease, in association with congenital hepatic fibrosis which can lead to similar clinical syndromes of portal hypertension and cholangitis (136).

Hepatic disease is commonly found in association with ARPKD cystic renal disease, but tends to be less prominent clinically when the renal disease is more pronounced and more prominent clinically when the renal disease is less pronounced (115,125). Patients diagnosed with ARPKD later in life often present with hepatic symptomatology including portal hypertension and variceal bleeding (121,124). These patients may require liver transplantation classically for unremitting variceal bleeding, portal hypertension, and recurrent cholangitis, not for hepatic dysfunction (124). Overall, symptomatic liver disease is found in 15-46% patients of ARPKD patients; however, the prevalence of asymptomatic hepatic disease may be higher (124).

Liver function tests are normal in most patients as hepatocellular dysfunction is not a prominent complication of congenital hepatic fibrosis. A clue to the early development of portal hypertension is cytopenias on the complete blood count or hepatosplenomegaly on physical examination (136). Abdominal sonography is a reliable method to screen for portal hypertension and biliary abnormalities. If specific biliary abnormalities are seen, MR cholangiogram can be performed to delineate the biliary anatomy (eg biliary atresia). If portal hypertension develops and is complicated by varices, patients may require banding or sclerotherapy as treatment. However, other experts advocate for portosystemic shunting to decompress the portal system, especially since hepatocellular dysfunction is not common in ARPKD (136). Because controlled trials have not been performed in children, management of congenital hepatic fibrosis induced portal hypertension is dependent on the expertise of local medical center, surgeon, and gastroenterologist.

5. NEPHRONOPHTHISIS (NPHP)-MEDULLARY CYSTIC KIDNEY DISEASE (MCKD) COMPLEX

NPHP-MCKD complex is a spectrum of renal cystic disease characterized clinically by polyuria, polydipsia, chronic renal failure, and normal to small sized kidneys with corticomedulllary cysts (137). Histopathologically, there is prominent tubulointerstial fibrosis (137). However, critical differences between NPHP and MCKD include (a) early onset of renal failure in NPHP compared to MCKD, (b) autosomal recessive inheritance of NPHP versus autosomal dominant inheritance of MCKD, and (c) absence of extra-renal manifestations in MCKD other than hyperuricemia (138).

5.1. Nephronopthisis (NPHP) 5.1.1. Genetics

Positional cloning has identified seven genes (*NPHP1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6*, and *AHI1*) which are implicated in the phenotypic expression of NPHP (139-146). Mutations within a specific gene produce a classic presentation of NPHP, like mutations of *NPHP2* result in infantile NPHP

Group	Affected Gene	Median Age (years) at	Retinitis pigmentosa	Neurologic		Hepatic	Hyperuricemia
		ESRD (ref)		JS1	CS^2	Fibrosis	
Infantile	NPHP2	3 (141)	+	-	-	-	-
Juvenile	NPHP1	13 (150,221)	+	+	+-	-	-
	NPHP5	13 (150)	+	-	-	-	-
	NPHP6	11 (144)	+	+		-	-
Adolescent	NPHP3	19 (142)	+	-	-	+	-
	NPHP4	22 (143,222)	+	-	+	-	-
Adult	MCKD1	62 (137)	-	-	-	-	+
	MCKD2	32 (137)	-	-	-	-	+

Table 3. Clinical manifestation of NPHP-MCKD complex

Abbreviations: ¹Jouberts syndrome, ²Cogan syndrome

(see Table 3); however, at the level of each locus, significant variability exits in the progression to renal failure and in extra-renal manifestations. Further discussion of the clinical syndromes associated with particular loci will be discussed later.

5.1.2. Clinical Manifestations

5.1.2.1. Epidemiology

The incidence of NPHP is variable with 1:50,000 live births reported in Canada and 1 case per million reported in the US (147,148). Although a rare disease, it is the most common hereditary cause of ESRD in children in Europe with prevalence rates of 10-15%, while in North America it accounts of \sim 5% of children with ESRD (138).

5.1.2.2. Renal Manifestations

Classically, NPHP presents in three forms; (a) infantile, (b) juvenile, and (c) adolescent forms based on the age at which renal failure develops. Typical signs and symptoms include the inability to concentrate urine, polyuria, polydipsia, secondary enuresis, and anemia (149). An emblematic complaint is of waking at night due to thirst. Development of these signs portends the development of chronic renal failure and progressive renal disease. Renal sonography reveals kidneys that are of small to normal size with corticomedullary cysts. Of significance is that patients characteristically lack hypertension, lower extremity edema, and a history of urinary tract infections (149). The dearth of genitourinary symptomatology leads to a delay in diagnosis and often results in patients who present with advanced renal failure. Typical biopsy findings in early kidney disease include thickening and disruption of the tubular basement membrane. disproportionate tubulointerstial fibrosis with little inflammatory infiltrate, cysts at the cortico-medullary junction, and tubular atrophy. There is invariable progression of kidney disease to ESRD, but the time course in which this occurs is variable. The affected loci, the type of mutation, and other environment and genetic factors contribute to the rate of progression of kidney disease (Table 3).

5.1.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations

The association of retinitis pigmentosa with NPHP is defined as the Senior-Loken syndrome (SLS). It is observed sporadically (\sim 10%) in patients with homozygous mutations of *NPHP1-4*, but without evidence for genotype-phenotype correlation (138). Retinal disease in association with *NPHP1-4* can present with early-onset or a late-onset SLS. The early-onset form of SLS is

characterized by coarse nystagmus and/or blindness at birth and up to the first two years of life (138). The late-onset form typically presents with night blindness and then overt blindness during school age. Fundoscopic abnormalities are detected by 10 years of age in all patients with SLS (138). While SLS occurs sporadically in association with certain NPHP loci, homozygous mutations of *NPHP5* and 6 exhibit early onset of retinitis pigmentosa in all cases (144,150) (Table 3).

Specific neurologic manifestations in the setting of NPHP comprise Jouberts syndrome. Patients with this syndrome exhibit coloboma (defect or gap) of the eye (with or without retinal degeneration), aplasia or hypoplasia of the cerebellar vermis leading to ataxia and mental retardation, polydactyly, cleft lip/palate, and episodic tachypnea and dyspnea. The "molar tooth sign" seen by MRI is the pathognomonic finding of Jouberts syndrome (138,151). Mutations of *NPHP1*, *AHI1*, and *NPHP6* have been associated with Jouberts syndrome of nephronopthisis (144,145,151-153).

Related to disorders of the cerebellar vermis is the oculomotor apraxia of the Cogan syndrome which refers to the transient inability for horizontal eye movements during the first few years of life (138). The Cogan syndrome may or may not be found with Jouberts syndrome, and is found with mutations of *NPHP1* and *NPHP4* (154,155).

Hepatomegaly and portal fibrosis with mild bile duct proliferation is associated with NPHP, but differs from classic congenital hepatic fibrosis because of the less prominent bile duct proliferation (156,157). The relationship of hepatic abnormalities to NPHP is not as well established as with the neurologic syndromes, but recently, mutations of *NPHP3* have been associated with hepatic fibrosis and retinitis pigmentosa (Table 3) (142). Coneshaped epiphyses of the phalanges are observed in NPHP in association with retinal degeneration and cerebellar ataxia, and are known as the Mainzer-Saldino syndrome (158).

Of interest, situs inversus was described in infantile NPHP (*NPHP2*) which suggested that the protein product of the gene, known as inversin, is important in left-right axis patterning (141). Utilizing a murine model of mutant *NPHP2*, these investigators recapitulated situs inversus suggesting that inversin is indeed involved in left-right axis specification (159).

There are many other syndromes described with NPHP which are beyond the scope of the review.

5.2. Medullary Cystic Kidney Disease (MCKD) 5.2.1. Genetics

MCKD is inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern with two identified genetic loci, *MCKD1* and *MCKD2*, localized to human chromosomes 1 and 16, respectively (137). Additionally, recent evidence suggests that mutations of uromodulin (*UMOD*) which encodes Tamm-Horsfall protein, can reproduce the MCKD phenotype as well as its autosomal dominant pattern of inheritance (160,161).

5.2.2. Clinical Manifestations 5.2.2.1. Epidemiology

MCKD is a rare disease with more than 50 cases reported by 2001 (149). It is has been described in many kindreds around the world, but mainly in Europe and North America (149).

5.2.2.2. Renal Manifestations

As with NPHP, these patients present with isosthenuric urine, polyuria, polydipsia and anemia which reflects the prominent tubulointertial fibrosis seen with this Proteinuria and hematuria are uncommon. disorder. Macroscopically, the kidneys are normal to small in size with a loss of the normal cortico-medullary boundary. Late in disease medullary cysts develop. The kidneys display prominent interstitial fibrosis, tubular atrophy, and thickening of the tubular basement membrane, features that are consistent with NPHP. MCKD differs from NPHP in three distinct ways; (a) MCKD is inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion, (b) MCKD typically results in ESRD after the third decade of life, and (c) MCKD has no other extra-renal manifestation other than hyperuricemia with or without gout (see Table 3) (138).

5.2.2.3. Hyperuricemia

As with MCKD, familial juvenile hyperuricemic nephropathy (FJHN), due to mutations of UMOD, is inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern, is associated with hyperuricemia, and is associated with the development of renal failure (149). In general MCKD patients develop ESRD after 30 years of age while many FJHN patients develop renal failure between the second and fourth decades of life (162). Pathologically, the diseases are similar except that FJHN patients develop renal cysts less frequently than do those with MCKD (163). The hyperuricemia of FJHN is associated with a low fractional excretion of uric acid (FEur; < 5.1%), a biochemical abnormality not seen in MCKD (160,162,164). Clinically, FJHN do not develop impaired urinary concentrating ability until late in disease, while impaired urinary concentrating ability is an early sign and symptom of MCKD (162).

6. BARDET-BIEDL SYNDROME (BBS)

6.1. Genetics

BBS is an autosomal recessive disease with up to twelve genes (see Table 1) implicated in its pathogenesis (165). Though recessively transmitted, evidence suggests that at least some phenotypes of BBS are caused by triallelic inheritance (166-168). Triallelic inheritance

requires three mutant alleles to be present in order to express the phenotype. Two mutant alleles are found at one locus (homozygote or compound heterozygote at one locus) and the third mutant allele is expressed at a second locus (heterozygote) (169). This type of inheritance has led investigators to propose that the disease is passed in a recessive manner, and the third allele acts as a modifier of phenotypic penetrance. On the other hand, Smaoui et al studied BBS2, BBS4, and BBS6 genes in patients with known biallelic mutations at BBS1, but found no mutations at the other loci. They concluded that homozygous and/or compound heterozygous mutations at a single locus were sufficient to induce the BBS phenotype (170). In sum, the BBS phenotype is inherited in a classic autosomal recessive manner, but also may be transmitted through a more complex triallelic pattern.

6.2. Clinical Manifestations

6.2.1. Epidemiology

The prevalence of BBS varies amongst different populations throughout the world, relying on high rates of consanguinity for phenotypic expression. For example in Newfoundland and the Bedouin of Kuwait the prevalence of BBS is 1:17,500 and 1:13,500 live births, respectively, while in the United Kingdom and Switzerland it is much lower at 1:125,000 and 1:160,000 live births, respectively (171-174).

6.2.2. Renal Manifestations

Structural and functional abnormalities of the kidney are common findings seen in 46-100% of BBS patients (172,175,176). Fetal lobulation, calcyceal cysts and diverticula, microcysts, diffuse cortical loss, and focal scarring are all structural features associated with BBS, and are found more commonly than impairment of glomerular filtration rate (172,175,177). Chronic renal failure, with progression to ESRD, is present in anywhere from 5 to 30% of patients (172,175,176,178). As in other cystic renal diseases, 70% of patients are unable concentrate their urine to greater than 750 mosm/Kg (179,180). In addition a defect in the ability to maximally acidify the urine was observed in 35% of patients (179).

First degree relatives of BBS patients have a higher incidence of renal cell carcinoma (181). Genetic analysis of renal carcinoma tissue isolated from first degree relatives demonstrated a loss of heterozygosity at several BBS loci implicating BBS in the pathogenesis of renal cancer (181). The risk of cancer in BBS patients in not well defined, but a high index of suspicion is warranted based upon the risk seen in their obligate carriers.

6.2.3. Extra-renal Manifestations

The classic manifestations include retinal dystrophy leading to significant blindness by 15 years of age, polydactyly, central obesity believed to be related to hyperphagia, mental retardation, hypogondism in males, and structural/functional renal abnormalities (Table 1) (176). Criteria have been developed to diagnose BBS (Table 1) as many patients are diagnosed late in life because of the delayed appearance of signs and symptoms. Beales *et al* suggested that identification of retinal dystrophy is the most successful marker for early identification of BBS because of its high frequency and early presentation (before 10 years of age) (176). Identification of strabismus and myopia, as they usually precede retinal changes, can alert the physician to investigate this diagnosis. As of 1999, the average age of BBS diagnosis was 9 years old; the fact that parents first noted abnormalities in their children by 3 years of age suggests a six year delay in diagnosis from initial presentation (176). Thus, vigilance regarding early symptoms, in addition to clear diagnostic criteria and education about this rare disease, will hopefully provide a greater opportunity for earlier identification.

In a study of the natural history of BBS, 38 affected and 58 unaffected siblings were studied over a period of 6 years (175). 86% of the affected were legally blind, 88% were obese, 66% were hypertensive, and 32% developed diabetes while the unaffected siblings did not develop any of the above complications (175). 25% died by the age of 44 years old while 98% of the unaffected siblings survived (175). In sum, a high index of suspicion in individuals that develop diabetes, hypertension, obesity and blindness early in life may help to identify BBS patients, but also suggests that these patients should be treated aggressively (for diabetes, hypertension etc) as they have a high mortality rate.

7. ORAL-FACIAL-DIGITAL SYNDROME 1 (OFD1)

7.1. Genetics

OFD1, the gene implicated in oral-facial-digital syndrome type 1 (also known as Papillon-Geage-Psaume syndrome), is an X (Xp22.2-22.3)-linked dominant syndrome that causes intrauterine death in males (182-184). A single male *OFD1* patient survived to the perinatal period; this infant expressed an XXY karyotype which was "protective" because of heterozygousity at the *OFD1* locus (185). Females present with significant intrafamilial phenotypic variability based partly on skewed X-inactivation in tissues (186). In analyzing genotype-phenotype correlations, splice mutations are associated with cystic kidneys, mutations of exons 3, 8, 9, 13, and 16 are linked to mental retardation, and mutations in the coiled-coiled domains of *OFD1* are associated with tooth abnormalities (186). Sporadic OFD cases appear to be more common than familial cases (186).

7.2. Clinical Manifestations

7.2.1. Epidemiology

OFD type 1 is estimated to occur in 1:250,000 live births and in a variety of racial backgrounds (182,187). Racial background can influence the phenotypic expression of OFD. In the general population blacks have a lower incidence of cleft lip and cleft palate than Caucasians (187). Similarly, cleft lip and cleft palate is less frequently observed in black (25%) than in Caucasian (80%) OFD patients (187) suggesting the black OFD patients are resistant to abnormalities of the lip and palate even with a genetic disorder that predisposes them.

7.2.2. Renal Manifestations

PKD is a characteristic feature of this hereditary disorder and accounts for a significant portion of morbidity and mortality associated with the disease. PKD occurs in approximately 50% of OFD type 1 patients (186) and is often

asymptomatic so that it presents late in life. As an example of intrafamilial renal phenotypic variability, Scolari *et al* reported an OFD proband (perinatal diagnosis) who developed ESRD by 16 years of age due to OFD related PKD. The mother with mild extra-renal manifestations of OFD (cleft palate, clinodactyly (finger or toes permanently bent) of hands and feet, and patchy alopecia) was diagnosed with PKD at 45 years of age by renal sonogram. By 55 years of age, the mother had chronic renal failure with a serum creatinine 3.5 mg/dL (188). Because PKD may be absent at birth but is a common clinical manifestation, routine monitoring for the development of PKD is suggested.

PKD in OFD patients leads to ESRD after the second decade of life, but is variable (189). Renal sonography reveals kidneys of normal size and contour but with multiple small (<1 cm) cysts throughout the parenchyma (190). Histopathology of the cystic kidneys demonstrate distal tubular cysts, but also, distinctively, glomerular cysts (189,190).

7.2.3. Extrarenal Manifestations

The non-renal phenotypic manifestations of this disease are the clues leading to the clinical diagnosis of OFD type 1. As the name implies, oral, facial, and digital abnormalities are common. Oral features include cleft palate (80%), bifid or lobulated tongue (30-45%), small median cleft or pseudocleft of the upper lip (45%), hyperplastic buccal frenuale, lingual hamartomas (70%), hypodontia (fewer number of teeth than normal) and low lateral incisors (186). Facial features include hypertelorism (wide spaced eyes), broad nasal bridge, hypoplasia of the nasal alae, facial asymmetry and alopecia (186). Anomalies of the fingers (45%) and toes (25%) include brachydactyly, syndactyly, clinodactyly, and, less commonly, polydactyly (186).

Neurologic complications vary from normal intelligence to mental retardation (40%) (186). Neuroanatomic (40%) abnormalities include agenesis of the corpus collosum, arachnoid cysts, cerebellar anomalies, porencephaly (lateral ventricle extends to cerebral hemisphere), and hydrocephaly (186,191). The disordered bone mineralization characteristic of OFD type 1 is evident from radiographs of the proximal and middle phalanges which show areas of reticulated radiolucencies interspersed with regions of spiculelike formations (192). This difference has been used to distinguish OFD type 1 from other OFD like syndromes (192).

The severity of the signs and symptoms are variable from person to person and from generation to generation. This makes identification difficult; however, a thorough family history and a careful physical exam should improve early identification of OFD, as genetic counseling will be needed for the affected individual.

8. MISCELLANEOUS HEREDITARY PKD SYNDROMES

8.1. ADPKD associated with Tuberous Sclerosis (TSC)

TSC is an autosomal dominant disease caused by mutations of either the *TSC1* (human chromosome 9) or

TSC2 (human chromosome 16) tumor suppressor genes (193,194). A second somatic mutation, as in ADPKD, leads to a loss of heterozygosity and induces tumor formation in brain, skin, retina, heart and kidney (195,196). Patients with mutations of TSC1 tend to have milder disease than age-matched patients with TSC2 mutations (197). TSC has a prevalence of 8 to 9 per 100,000 individuals with a high degree of penetrance (198). The variable location and tissue distribution of tumors primarily dictates the symptoms and manifestations of TSC. Thus, for example, central nervous tumors, like subependymal nodules, cortical hamartomas, are able to produce hydrocephalous, seizures, and mental retardation. Retinal hamartomas are found in eyes, rhabdomyoscaromas in the heart, and hypomelantoic macules, facial angiofibromas, ungula fibromas in the skin (199). The kidney is principally affected by angiomyolipomas, cysts, and renal carcinoma (197,200). Cysts affecting the kidney are a common complication occurring in 25% of TSC patients (197), but individuals with enlarged cystic kidneys presenting during infancy and resembling ADPKD are much less common (201). TSC2 resides adjacent to pkd1 on chromosome 16 so that large genomic deletions that cross both genes produce this aggressive infantile form of ADPKD in TSC patients (201). Although most patients with ADPKD associated with TSC present early in life, slowly progressive cystic renal disease may lead to renal failure in early adulthood (202).

8.2. ADPKD associated with von Hippel-Lindau

Von Hippel-Lindau is a rare autosomal dominant disorder which is found in 1:39,000 to 1:53,000 individuals (203). This syndrome is linked to mutations in the *VHL* tumor suppressor gene found on human chromosome 3 (204). As in ADPKD where secondary somatic mutations produce a loss of heterozygousity and subsequent cellular proliferation, somatic mutations of the normal *VHL* allele induce a growth advantage, but, unlike ADPKD, patients present with tumors (203,205,206). Central nervous system (cerebellar, brainstem, and spinal cord) hemangioblastomas are the classic findings of von Hippel-Lindau, but also observed are retinal angiomatosis, renal carcinomas (clear cell type), pheochromocytomas, pancreatic islet cell tumors, epididymal cystadenomas, renal cysts, pancreatic cysts and rarely hepatic cysts (203,207).

Renal cysts and renal cancers are present in 60% and 26%, respectively, of patients (203). Renal carcinomas are always of the clear cell subtype and are found bilaterally in greater than 50% of cases (205). Renal cysts are usually few and bilateral. They are present in most patients by the third decade of life. Generally, the cysts do not distort the normal architecture of the kidney and do not induce renal failure. However, cases have been reported where patients present with renal cystic disease, indistinguishable from ADPKD; but, upon further examination of the first degree relatives and/or radiologic exam of the proband, central nervous system hemagiomas were found which led to the diagnosis of von Hippel-Lindau (203,206). It is rare that cystic kidney disease associated with von Hippel-Lindau results in chronic renal failure, but renal insufficiency caused by nephrectomy for treatment of renal carcinoma is common (205). In sum, polycystic kidney disease indistinguishable from ADPKD can present in patients with von Hippel-Lindau, but is an uncommon occurrence.

9. THERAPEUTICS IN PKD

To date, specific treatments for polycystic kidney disease, of any type, are lacking. Treatment is supportive and based on treatment guidelines for chronic kidney disease (208). However, new classes of therapeutics which include vasopressin type 2 receptor (V2) antagonists and older classes of medication, like somatostatin and sirolimus, are being studied as possible therapeutic agents for PKD, especially, ADPKD.

The use of V2 receptor antagonists for PKD is based on evidence that PKD renal epithelial cells (a) accumulate high concentrations of cAMP which stimulates proliferation and secretion, (b) express greater abundance of V2 receptor than normal cells and that (c) inhibition of V2 receptor reduces cellular cAMP concentrations (49,209). Utilizing rodent models of nephronopthisis (PCY), ARPKD (PCK), and ADPKD (PKD^{-/tm1som}: orthologous to human pkd2) V2 receptor antagonists have been shown to reduce cyst volume, kidney weight, renal fibrosis, and tissue cAMP abundance while improving renal function (49,210). As a proof of principle, simply boosting water intake in the PCK rodent model of ARPKD to suppress vasopressin levels diminished renal tubular proliferation and improved renal function compared to control PCK rats (211). An oral human V2 antagonist has been developed (Tolvaptan) that has completed phase II human clinical trials and will begin phase III clinical trials late in 2007 (7).

Octreotide, a synthetic isoform of somatostatin, also reduces cellular cAMP concentrations, a finding which has prompted interest in it as a treatment for PKD and cystic liver disease. Octreotide treatment of *PCK* rats inhibited hepatic and renal cyst growth suggesting a role for its use in the treatment of PKD (212). A small pilot human study in ADPKD patients showed that a long-acting somatostatin analogue was safe and that it tended to reduce the rate of renal cyst growth compared to placebo controls (213). Further clinical trials are ongoing to evaluate the effect of long acting somatostatin on hepatic cysts in ADPKD.

The kinase activity of mTOR is an important regulator of cell proliferation, growth, and metabolism, and is inappropriately activated in rodent and human models of PKD (214,215). Because PC-1 is believed to regulate mTOR activity, it is hypothesized that absent or mutant PC-1 leads to dysregulation of mTOR activity which induces proliferation and cyst formation (215). Treatment of *orpk* and *bpk* mice, murine models of ARPKD, with sirolimus, a specific mTOR inhibitor, diminished renal tubular proliferation, decreased kidney weight, and improved renal function compared to vehicle treated controls (215). A retrospective review of ADPKD renal transplant recipients treated with sirolimus revealed that native ADPKD kidney

volume decreased by approximately 25% while patients treated with alternate immunosuppressive medications showed no change in kidney volume (215). Similar studies in rodent models of ADPKD showed reductions in kidney weight and improvement in renal function when treated with sirolimus (216,217). As with the other new therapeutics for ADPKD, a phase III trial is underway to determine the therapeutic potential of sirolimus in ADPKD.

10. CONCLUSIONS

Hereditary PKD can present in many ways; (a) in isolation with primarily renal manifestations and complications or (b) in combination with extra-renal phenotypic features. Because cystic renal diseases are uncommon, early recognition is often difficult; however, a high index of suspicion can lead to important diagnostic, preventive and therapeutic measures which will ultimately improve morbidity and mortality. If cystic renal disease is recognized, vigilance in history taking and physical examination can improve the odds of making an accurate diagnosis as it not only impacts on the patient, but also first degree relatives of the index case. Molecular diagnostics remains mostly research tool at this time which emphasizes the importance of an accurate clinical diagnosis. Finally, these diagnostic considerations will become more important as new therapeutics designed for cystic kidney disease come to clinical practice.

11. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a grant from the National Institutes of Health KO8 DK062172 (RR). The author gratefully acknowledges the insightful discussions and support of Dr. L. M. Satlin.

12. REFERENCES

1. Mochizuki, T., G. Wu, T. Hayashi, S. L. Xenophontos, B. Veldhuisen, J. J. Saris, D. M. Reynolds, Y. Cai, P. A. Gabow, A. Pierides, W. J. Kimberling, M. H. Breuning, C. C. Deltas, D. J. Peters & S. Somlo: PKD2, a gene for polycystic kidney disease that encodes an integral membrane protein. *Science*, 272, 1339-42 (1996)

2. Hughes, J., C. J. Ward, B. Peral, R. Aspinwall, K. Clark, J. L. San Millan, V. Gamble & P. C. Harris: The polycystic kidney disease 1 (PKD1) gene encodes a novel protein with multiple cell recognition domains. *Nat Genet*, 10, 151-60 (1995)

3. Hateboer, N., M. A. v Dijk, N. Bogdanova, E. Coto, A. K. Saggar-Malik, J. L. San Millan, R. Torra, M. Breuning & D. Ravine: Comparison of phenotypes of polycystic kidney disease types 1 and 2. European PKD1-PKD2 Study Group. *Lancet*, 353, 103-7 (1999)

4. Wu, G., X. Tian, S. Nishimura, G. S. Markowitz, V. D'Agati, J. H. Park, L. Yao, L. Li, L. Geng, H. Zhao, W. Edelmann & S. Somlo: Trans-heterozygous Pkd1 and Pkd2 mutations modify expression of polycystic kidney disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 11, 1845-54 (2002)

5. Pei, Y., A. D. Paterson, K. R. Wang, N. He, D. Hefferton, T. Watnick, G. G. Germino, P. Parfrey, S. Somlo & P. St George-Hyslop: Bilineal disease and transheterozygotes in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Hum Genet*, 68, 355-63 (2001)

6. Lu, W., B. Peissel, H. Babakhanlou, A. Pavlova, L. Geng, X. Fan, C. Larson, G. Brent & J. Zhou: Perinatal lethality with kidney and pancreas defects in mice with a targetted Pkd1 mutation. *Nat Genet*, 17, 179-81 (1997)

7. Torres, V. E., P. C. Harris & Y. Pirson: Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Lancet*, 369, 1287-301 (2007)

8. Rossetti, S., S. Burton, L. Strmecki, G. R. Pond, J. L. San Millan, K. Zerres, T. M. Barratt, S. Ozen, V. E. Torres, E. J. Bergstralh, C. G. Winearls & P. C. Harris: The position of the polycystic kidney disease 1 (PKD1) gene mutation correlates with the severity of renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 13, 1230-7 (2002)

9. Rossetti, S., D. Chauveau, V. Kubly, J. M. Slezak, A. K. Saggar-Malik, Y. Pei, A. C. Ong, F. Stewart, M. L. Watson, E. J. Bergstralh, C. G. Winearls, V. E. Torres & P. C. Harris: Association of mutation position in polycystic kidney disease 1 (PKD1) gene and development of a vascular phenotype. *Lancet*, 361, 2196-201 (2003)

10. Fain, P. R., K. K. McFann, M. R. Taylor, M. Tison, A. M. Johnson, B. Reed & R. W. Schrier: Modifier genes play a significant role in the phenotypic expression of PKD1. *Kidney Int*, 67, 1256-67 (2005)

11. Persu, A., M. Duyme, Y. Pirson, X. M. Lens, T. Messiaen, M. H. Breuning, D. Chauveau, M. Levy, J. P. Grunfeld & O. Devuyst: Comparison between siblings and twins supports a role for modifier genes in ADPKD. *Kidney Int*, 66, 2132-6 (2004)

12. Johnson, A. M. & P. A. Gabow: Identification of patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease at highest risk for end-stage renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 8, 1560-7 (1997)

13. Gabow, P. A., A. M. Johnson, W. D. Kaehny, W. J. Kimberling, D. C. Lezotte, I. T. Duley & R. H. Jones: Factors affecting the progression of renal disease in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 41, 1311-9 (1992)

14. Qian, F., T. J. Watnick, L. F. Onuchic & G. G. Germino: The molecular basis of focal cyst formation in human autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease type I. *Cell*, 87, 979-87 (1996)

15. Qian, F. & G. G. Germino: "Mistakes happen": somatic mutation and disease. *Am J Hum Genet*, 61, 1000-5 (1997)

16. Brasier, J. L. & E. P. Henske: Loss of the polycystic kidney disease (PKD1) region of chromosome 16p13 in renal cyst cells supports a loss-of-function model for cyst pathogenesis. *J Clin Invest*, 99, 194-9 (1997)

17. Grantham, J. J., V. E. Torres, A. B. Chapman, L. M. Guay-Woodford, K. T. Bae, B. F. King, Jr., L. H. Wetzel, D. A. Baumgarten, P. J. Kenney, P. C. Harris, S. Klahr, W. M. Bennett, G. N. Hirschman, C. M. Meyers, X. Zhang, F. Zhu & J. P. Miller: Volume progression in polycystic kidney disease. *N Engl J Med*, 354, 2122-30 (2006)

18. Iglesias, C. G., V. E. Torres, K. P. Offord, K. E. Holley, C. M. Beard & L. T. Kurland: Epidemiology of adult polycystic kidney disease, Olmsted County, Minnesota: 1935-1980. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 2, 630-9 (1983)

19. Davies, F., G. A. Coles, P. S. Harper, A. J. Williams, C. Evans & D. Cochlin: Polycystic kidney disease reevaluated: a population-based study. *Q J Med*, 79, 477-85 (1991)

20. Higashihara, E., K. Nutahara, M. Kojima, A. Tamakoshi, O. Yoshiyuki, H. Sakai & K. Kurokawa: Prevalence and renal prognosis of diagnosed autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease in Japan. *Nephron*, 80, 421-7 (1998)

21. Bethesda: National Institutes of Health: USRDS 1999 annual data report. *Renal Data System US* (2006)

22. Kelleher, C. L., K. K. McFann, A. M. Johnson & R. W. Schrier: Characteristics of hypertension in young adults with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease compared with the general U.S. population. *Am J Hypertens*, 17, 1029-34 (2004)

23. Fick, G. M., A. M. Johnson, W. S. Hammond & P. A. Gabow: Causes of death in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, *5*, 2048-56 (1995)

24. Klahr, S., J. A. Breyer, G. J. Beck, V. W. Dennis, J. A. Hartman, D. Roth, T. I. Steinman, S. R. Wang & M. E. Yamamoto: Dietary protein restriction, blood pressure control, and the progression of polycystic kidney disease. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 5, 2037-47 (1995)

25. Sarnak, M. J., T. Greene, X. Wang, G. Beck, J. W. Kusek, A. J. Collins & A. S. Levey: The effect of a lower target blood pressure on the progression of kidney disease: long-term follow-up of the modification of diet in renal disease study. *Ann Intern Med*, 142, 342-51 (2005)

26. Schrier, R., K. McFann, A. Johnson, A. Chapman, C. Edelstein, G. Brosnahan, T. Ecder & L. Tison: Cardiac and renal effects of standard versus rigorous blood pressure control in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease: results of a seven-year prospective randomized study. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 13, 1733-9 (2002)

27. Chobanian, A. V., G. L. Bakris, H. R. Black, W. C. Cushman, L. A. Green, J. L. Izzo, Jr., D. W. Jones, B. J. Materson, S. Oparil, J. T. Wright, Jr. & E. J. Roccella: Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*, 42, 1206-52 (2003)

28. Gabow, P. A., A. B. Chapman, A. M. Johnson, D. J. Tangel, I. T. Duley, W. D. Kaehny, M. Manco-Johnson & R. W. Schrier: Renal structure and hypertension in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 38, 1177-80 (1990)

29. Doulton, T. W., A. K. Saggar-Malik, F. J. He, C. Carney, N. D. Markandu, G. A. Sagnella & G. A. MacGregor: The effect of sodium and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition on the classic circulating renin-angiotensin system in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease patients. *J Hypertens*, 24, 939-45 (2006)

30. Lawson, C. R., T. W. Doulton & G. A. MacGregor: Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease: role of the renin-angiotensin system in raised blood pressure in progression of renal and cardiovascular disease. *J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst*, 7, 139-45 (2006)

31. Chapman, A. B., A. Johnson, P. A. Gabow & R. W. Schrier: The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *N Engl J Med*, 323, 1091-6 (1990)

32. Loghman-Adham, M., C. E. Soto, T. Inagami & L. Cassis: The intrarenal renin-angiotensin system in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 287, F775-88 (2004)

33. Torres, V. E., K. A. Donovan, G. Scicli, K. E. Holley, S. N. Thibodeau, O. A. Carretero, T. Inagami, J. A. McAteer & C. M. Johnson: Synthesis of renin by tubulocystic epithelium in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 42, 364-73 (1992)

34. McPherson, E. A., Z. Luo, R. A. Brown, L. S. LeBard, C. C. Corless, R. C. Speth & S. P. Bagby: Chymase-like angiotensin II-generating activity in end-stage human autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 15, 493-500 (2004)

35. Torres, V. E., D. M. Wilson, J. C. Burnett, Jr., C. M. Johnson & K. P. Offord: Effect of inhibition of converting enzyme on renal hemodynamics and sodium management in polycystic kidney disease. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 66, 1010-7 (1991)

36. van Dijk, M. A., M. H. Breuning, R. Duiser, L. A. van Es & R. G. Westendorp: No effect of enalapril on progression in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 18, 2314-20 (2003)

37. Ecder, T., C. L. Edelstein, G. M. Fick-Brosnahan, A. M. Johnson, A. B. Chapman, P. A. Gabow & R. W. Schrier: Diuretics versus angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Nephrol*, 21, 98-103 (2001)

38. Nutahara, K., E. Higashihara, S. Horie, K. Kamura, K. Tsuchiya, T. Mochizuki, T. Hosoya, T. Nakayama, N. Yamamoto, Y. Higaki & T. Shimizu: Calcium channel blocker versus angiotensin II receptor blocker in autosomal

dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nephron Clin Pract*, 99, c18-23 (2005)

39. Jafar, T. H., P. C. Stark, C. H. Schmid, S. Strandgaard, A. L. Kamper, G. Maschio, G. Becker, R. D. Perrone & A. S. Levey: The effect of angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors on progression of advanced polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 67, 265-71 (2005)

40. Dalgaard, O. Z.: Bilateral polycystic disease of the kidneys; a follow-up of two hundred and eighty-four patients and their families. *Acta Med Scand Suppl*, 328, 1-255 (1957)

41. Martinez-Maldonado, M., J. J. Yium, G. Eknoyan & W. N. Suki: Adult polycystic kidney disease: studies of the defect in urine concentration. *Kidney Int*, 2, 107-13 (1972)

42. Gabow, P. A., W. D. Kaehny, A. M. Johnson, I. T. Duley, M. Manco-Johnson, D. C. Lezotte & R. W. Schrier: The clinical utility of renal concentrating capacity in polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 35, 675-80 (1989)

43. Ahrabi, A. K., S. Terryn, G. Valenti, N. Caron, C. Serradeil-Le Gal, D. Raufaste, S. Nielsen, S. Horie, J. M. Verbavatz & O. Devuyst: PKD1 Haploinsufficiency Causes a Syndrome of Inappropriate Antidiuresis in Mice. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2007)

44. Jiang, S. T., Y. Y. Chiou, E. Wang, H. K. Lin, Y. T. Lin, Y. C. Chi, C. K. Wang, M. J. Tang & H. Li: Defining a link with autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease in mice with congenitally low expression of Pkd1. *Am J Pathol*, 168, 205-20 (2006)

45. Hayashi, M., Y. Yamaji, T. Monkawa, T. Yoshida, H. Tsuganezawa, H. Sasamura, W. Kitajima, S. Sasaki, K. Ishibashi, F. Maurmo & T. Saruta: Expression and localization of the water channels in human autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nephron*, 75, 321-6 (1997)

46. Torres, V. E.: Water for ADPKD? Probably, yes. J Am Soc Nephrol, 17, 2089-91 (2006)

47. Seeman, T., J. Dusek, K. Vondrak, K. Blahova, E. Simkova, J. Kreisinger, P. Dvorak, M. Kyncl, Z. Hribal & J. Janda: Renal concentrating capacity is linked to blood pressure in children with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Physiol Res*, 53, 629-34 (2004)

48. Hebert, L. A., T. Greene, A. Levey, M. E. Falkenhain & S. Klahr: High urine volume and low urine osmolality are risk factors for faster progression of renal disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 41, 962-71 (2003)

49. Torres, V. E., X. Wang, Q. Qian, S. Somlo, P. C. Harris & V. H. Gattone, 2nd: Effective treatment of an orthologous model of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nat Med*, 10, 363-4 (2004)

50. Gabow, P. A., I. Duley & A. M. Johnson: Clinical profiles of gross hematuria in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 20, 140-3 (1992)

51. Bajwa, Z. H., S. Gupta, C. A. Warfield & T. I. Steinman: Pain management in polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 60, 1631-44 (2001)

52. Keith, D. S., V. E. Torres, B. F. King, H. Zincki & G. M. Farrow: Renal cell carcinoma in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 4, 1661-9 (1994)

53. Gibson, P. & M. L. Watson: Cyst infection in polycystic kidney disease: a clinical challenge. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 13, 2455-7 (1998)

54. Schwab, S. J., S. J. Bander & S. Klahr: Renal infection in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Med*, 82, 714-8 (1987)

55. Gupta, S., A. Seith, K. Sud, H. S. Kohli, S. K. Singh, V. Sakhuja & S. Suri: CT in the evaluation of complicated autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Acta Radiol*, 41, 280-4 (2000)

56. Chicoskie, C., A. Chaoui, E. Kuligowska, L. M. Dember & R. Tello: MRI isolation of infected renal cyst in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Clin Imaging*, 25, 114-7 (2001)

57. Bretan, P. N., Jr., D. C. Price & R. D. McClure: Localization of abscess in adult polycystic kidney by indium-111 leukocyte scan. *Urology*, 32, 169-71 (1988)

58. Bleeker-Rovers, C. P., R. G. de Sevaux, H. W. van Hamersvelt, F. H. Corstens & W. J. Oyen: Diagnosis of renal and hepatic cyst infections by 18-Ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 41, E18-21 (2003)

59. Bennett, W. M., L. Elzinga, J. P. Pulliam, A. L. Rashad & J. M. Barry: Cyst fluid antibiotic concentrations in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 6, 400-4 (1985)

60. Elzinga, L. W., T. A. Golper, A. L. Rashad, M. E. Carr & W. M. Bennett: Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in cyst fluid from autosomal dominant polycystic kidneys. *Kidney Int*, 32, 884-8 (1987)

61. Elzinga, L. W., T. A. Golper, A. L. Rashad, M. E. Carr & W. M. Bennett: Ciprofloxacin activity in cyst fluid from polycystic kidneys. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 32, 844-7 (1988)

62. Hiyama, L., A. Tang & L. G. Miller: Levofloxacin penetration into a renal cyst in a patient with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 47, e9-13 (2006)

63. Torres, V. E., S. B. Erickson, L. H. Smith, D. M. Wilson, R. R. Hattery & J. W. Segura: The association of nephrolithiasis and autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 11, 318-25 (1988)

64. Delaney, V. B., S. Adler, F. J. Bruns, M. Licinia, D. P. Segel & D. S. Fraley: Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease: presentation, complications, and prognosis. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 5, 104-11 (1985)

65. Grampsas, S. A., P. S. Chandhoke, J. Fan, M. A. Glass, R. Townsend, A. M. Johnson & P. Gabow: Anatomic and metabolic risk factors for nephrolithiasis in patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 36, 53-7 (2000)

66. Torres, V. E., D. M. Wilson, R. R. Hattery & J. W. Segura: Renal stone disease in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 22, 513-9 (1993)

67. Ng, C. S., A. Yost & S. B. Streem: Nephrolithiasis associated with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease: contemporary urological management. *J Urol*, 163, 726-9 (2000)

68. Lang, E. K. & R. Davis: Autosomal dominant polycystic disease with renal cell carcinoma. *J Urol*, 173, 987 (2005)

69. Mosetti, M. A., P. Leonardou, T. Motohara, M. Kanematsu, D. Armao & R. C. Semelka: Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease: MR imaging evaluation using current techniques. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, 18, 210-5 (2003)

70. Harris, P. C., K. T. Bae, S. Rossetti, V. E. Torres, J. J. Grantham, A. B. Chapman, L. M. Guay-Woodford, B. F. King, L. H. Wetzel, D. A. Baumgarten, P. J. Kenney, M. Consugar, S. Klahr, W. M. Bennett, C. M. Meyers, Q. J. Zhang, P. A. Thompson, F. Zhu & J. P. Miller: Cyst number but not the rate of cystic growth is associated with the mutated gene in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 17, 3013-9 (2006)

71. Yium, J., P. Gabow, A. Johnson, W. Kimberling & M. Martinez-Maldonado: Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease in blacks: clinical course and effects of sickle-cell hemoglobin. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 4, 1670-4 (1994)

72. Everson, G. T., M. Emmett, W. R. Brown, P. Redmond & D. Thickman: Functional similarities of hepatic cystic and biliary epithelium: studies of fluid constituents and in vivo secretion in response to secretin. *Hepatology*, 11, 557-65 (1990)

73. Bae, K. T., F. Zhu, A. Chapman, V. Torres, J. J. Grantham, L. Guay-Woodford, D. A. Baumgarten, B. F. King, L. H. Wetzel, P. J. Kenney, M. E. Brummer, W. M. Bennett, S. Klahr, C. M. Meyers, X. Zhang, P. A. Thompson, J. P. Miller & C. f. R. I. S. o. P. K. D. (CRISP):

Magnetic Resonance Imaging Evaluation of Hepatic Cysts in Early Autosomal-Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease: The Consortium for Radiologic Imaging Studies of Polycystic Kidney Disease Cohort. *C J Am Soc Nephrol*, 1, 64-9 (2006)

74. Sherstha, R., C. McKinley, P. Russ, A. Scherzinger, T. Bronner, R. Showalter & G. T. Everson: Postmenopausal estrogen therapy selectively stimulates hepatic enlargement in women with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Hepatology*, 26, 1282-6 (1997)

75. Gabow, P. A., A. M. Johnson, W. D. Kaehny, M. L. Manco-Johnson, I. T. Duley & G. T. Everson: Risk factors for the development of hepatic cysts in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Hepatology*, 11, 1033-7 (1990)

76. Arnold, H. L. & S. A. Harrison: New advances in evaluation and management of patients with polycystic liver disease. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 100, 2569-82 (2005)

77. Takei, R., Y. Ubara, J. Hoshino, Y. Higa, T. Suwabe, Y. Sogawa, K. Nomura, S. Nakanishi, N. Sawa, H. Katori, F. Takemoto, S. Hara & K. Takaichi: Percutaneous transcatheter hepatic artery embolization for liver cysts in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 49, 744-52 (2007)

78. Everson, G. T., A. Scherzinger, N. Berger-Leff, J. Reichen, D. Lezotte, M. Manco-Johnson & P. Gabow: Polycystic liver disease: quantitation of parenchymal and cyst volumes from computed tomography images and clinical correlates of hepatic cysts. *Hepatology*, 8, 1627-34 (1988)

79. Telenti, A., V. E. Torres, J. B. Gross, Jr., R. E. Van Scoy, M. L. Brown & R. R. Hattery: Hepatic cyst infection in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 65, 933-42 (1990)

80. Yoshida, H., M. Onda, T. Tajiri, Y. Mamada, N. Taniai, S. Mineta, A. Hirakata, R. Futami, Y. Arima, M. Inoue, S. Hatta & A. Kishimoto: Infected hepatic cyst. *Hepatogastroenterology*, 50, 507-9 (2003)

81. Wan, S. K. & D. L. Cochlin: Sonographic and computed tomographic features of polycystic disease of the liver. *Gastrointest Radiol*, 15, 310-2 (1990)

82. Lahiri, S. A., G. A. Halff, K. V. Speeg & R. M. Esterl, Jr.: In-111 WBC scan localizes infected hepatic cysts and confirms their complete resection in adult polycystic kidney disease. *Clin Nucl Med*, 23, 33-4 (1998)

83. Kwok, C. G. & I. R. McDougall: Persistent fever in a patient with polycystic kidney and liver diseases and bilateral hip prostheses. *J Nucl Med*, 37, 2062-5 (1996)

84. Al-Nahhas, A. M. & J. R. Steel: Demonstration of infection of one cyst in a polycystic liver with Ga-67 citrate SPECT. *Clin Nucl Med*, 25, 131-2 (2000)

85. Schievink, W. I., V. E. Torres, D. O. Wiebers & J. Huston, 3rd: Intracranial arterial dolichoectasia in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 8, 1298-303 (1997)

86. Graf, S., A. Schischma, K. E. Eberhardt, R. Istel, B. Stiasny & B. D. Schulze: Intracranial aneurysms and dolichoectasia in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 17, 819-23 (2002)

87. Hadimeri, H., C. Lamm & G. Nyberg: Coronary aneurysms in patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 9, 837-41 (1998)

88. Kato, A., T. Takita, M. Furuhashi, Y. Maruyama & A. Hishida: Abdominal aortic aneurysms in hemodialysis patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nephron*, 88, 185-6 (2001)

89. Chapman, J. R. & A. J. Hilson: Polycystic kidneys and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Lancet*, 1, 646-7 (1980)

90. Lee, C. C., W. T. Chang, C. C. Fang, I. L. Tsai & W. J. Chen: Sudden death caused by dissecting thoracic aortic aneurysm in a patient with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Resuscitation*, 63, 93-6 (2004)

91. Adeola, T., O. Adeleye, J. L. Potts, M. Faulkner & A. Oso: Thoracic aortic dissection in a patient with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Natl Med Assoc*, 93, 282-7 (2001)

92. Pirson, Y., D. Chauveau & V. Torres: Management of cerebral aneurysms in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 13, 269-76 (2002)

93. Huston, J., 3rd, V. E. Torres, D. O. Wiebers & W. I. Schievink: Follow-up of intracranial aneurysms in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease by magnetic resonance angiography. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 7, 2135-41 (1996)

94. Villablanca, J. P., R. Jahan, P. Hooshi, S. Lim, G. Duckwiler, A. Patel, J. Sayre, N. Martin, J. Frazee, J. Bentson & F. Vinuela: Detection and characterization of very small cerebral aneurysms by using 2D and 3D helical CT angiography. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 23, 1187-98 (2002)

95. Rinkel, G. J.: Intracranial aneurysm screening: indications and advice for practice. *Lancet Neurol*, 4, 122-8 (2005)

96. Pirson, Y., D. Chauveau & J. P. Grunfeld: Autosomaldominant polycystic kidney disease. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York (1998)

97. Schrier, R. W., M. M. Belz, A. M. Johnson, W. D. Kaehny, R. L. Hughes, D. Rubinstein & P. A. Gabow: Repeat imaging for intracranial aneurysms in patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease with initially negative studies: a prospective ten-year follow-up. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 15, 1023-8 (2004)

98. Schievink, W. I., V. E. Torres, D. G. Piepgras & D. O. Wiebers: Saccular intracranial aneurysms in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 3, 88-95 (1992)

99. Alehan, F. K., B. Gurakan & M. Agildere: Familial arachnoid cysts in association with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Pediatrics*, 110, e13 (2002)

100. Danaci, M., T. Akpolat, M. Bastemir, S. Sarikaya, H. Akan, M. B. Selcuk & K. Cengiz: The prevalence of seminal vesicle cysts in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 13, 2825-8 (1998)

101. Nicolau, C., R. Torra, L. Bianchi, R. Vilana, R. Gilabert, A. Darnell & C. Bru: Abdominal sonographic study of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Clin Ultrasound*, 28, 277-82 (2000)

102. Schievink, W. I., J. Huston, 3rd, V. E. Torres & W. R. Marsh: Intracranial cysts in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Neurosurg*, 83, 1004-7 (1995)

103. Belet, U., M. Danaci, S. Sarikaya, F. Odabas, C. Utas, B. Tokgoz, T. Sezer, T. Turgut, N. Erdogan & T. Akpolat: Prevalence of epididymal, seminal vesicle, prostate, and testicular cysts in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Urology*, 60, 138-41 (2002)

104. Lumiaho, A., R. Ikaheimo, R. Miettinen, L. Niemitukia, T. Laitinen, A. Rantala, E. Lampainen, M. Laakso & J. Hartikainen: Mitral valve prolapse and mitral regurgitation are common in patients with polycystic kidney disease type 1. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 38, 1208-16 (2001)

105. Hossack, K. F., C. L. Leddy, A. M. Johnson, R. W. Schrier & P. A. Gabow: Echocardiographic findings in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *N Engl J Med*, 319, 907-12 (1988)

106. Leier, C. V., P. B. Baker, J. W. Kilman & C. F. Wooley: Cardiovascular abnormalities associated with adult polycystic kidney disease. *Ann Intern Med*, 100, 683-8 (1984)

107. Onuchic, L. F., L. Furu, Y. Nagasawa, X. Hou, T. Eggermann, Z. Ren, C. Bergmann, J. Senderek, E. Esquivel, R. Zeltner, S. Rudnik-Schoneborn, M. Mrug, W. Sweeney, E. D. Avner, K. Zerres, L. M. Guay-Woodford, S. Somlo & G. G. Germino: PKHD1, the polycystic kidney and hepatic disease 1 gene, encodes a novel large protein containing multiple immunoglobulin-like plexintranscription-factor domains and parallel beta-helix 1 repeats. *Am J Hum Genet*, 70, 1305-17 (2002)

108. Ward, C. J., M. C. Hogan, S. Rossetti, D. Walker, T. Sneddon, X. Wang, V. Kubly, J. M. Cunningham, R. Bacallao, M. Ishibashi, D. S. Milliner, V. E. Torres & P. C. Harris: The gene mutated in autosomal recessive polycystic

kidney disease encodes a large, receptor-like protein. *Nat Genet*, 30, 259-69. (2002)

109. Losekoot, M., C. Haarloo, C. Ruivenkamp, S. J. White, M. H. Breuning & D. J. Peters: Analysis of missense variants in the PKHD1-gene in patients with autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD). *Hum Genet*, 118, 185-206 (2005)

110. Kaimori, J. Y., Y. Nagasawa, L. F. Menezes, M. A. Garcia-Gonzalez, J. Deng, E. Imai, L. F. Onuchic, L. M. Guay-Woodford & G. G. Germino: Polyductin undergoes notch-like processing and regulated release from primary cilia. *Hum Mol Genet*, 16, 942-56 (2007)

111. Hiesberger, T., E. Gourley, A. Erickson, P. Koulen, C. J. Ward, T. V. Masyuk, N. F. Larusso, P. C. Harris & P. Igarashi: Proteolytic cleavage and nuclear translocation of fibrocystin is regulated by intracellular Ca2+ and activation of protein kinase C. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 34357-64 (2006)

112. Blyth, H. & B. G. Ockenden: Polycystic disease of kidney and liver presenting in childhood. *J Med Genet*, 8, 257-84. (1971)

113. Deget, F., S. Rudnik-Schoneborn & K. Zerres: Course of autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD) in siblings: a clinical comparison of 20 sibships. *Clin Genet*, 47, 248-53 (1995)

114. Bergmann, C., J. Senderek, E. Windelen, F. Kupper, I. Middeldorf, F. Schneider, C. Dornia, S. Rudnik-Schoneborn, M. Konrad, C. P. Schmitt, T. Seeman, T. J. Neuhaus, U. Vester, J. Kirfel, R. Buttner & K. Zerres: Clinical consequences of PKHD1 mutations in 164 patients with autosomal-recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD). *Kidney Int*, 67, 829-48 (2005)

115. Rossetti, S. & P. C. Harris: Genotype-phenotype correlations in autosomal dominant and autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 18, 1374-80 (2007)

116. Bergmann, C., J. Senderek, B. Sedlacek, I. Pegiazoglou, P. Puglia, T. Eggermann, S. Rudnik-Schoneborn, L. Furu, L. F. Onuchic, M. De Baca, G. G. Germino, L. Guay-Woodford, S. Somlo, M. Moser, R. Buttner & K. Zerres: Spectrum of mutations in the gene for autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD/PKHD1). *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 14, 76-89 (2003)

117. Consugar, M. B., S. A. Anderson, S. Rossetti, V. S. Pankratz, C. J. Ward, R. Torra, E. Coto, M. El-Youssef, S. Kantarci, B. Utsch, F. Hildebrandt, W. E. Sweeney, E. D. Avner, V. E. Torres, J. M. Cunningham & P. C. Harris: Haplotype analysis improves molecular diagnostics of autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 45, 77-87 (2005)

118. Rossetti, S., R. Torra, E. Coto, M. Consugar, V. Kubly, S. Malaga, M. Navarro, M. El-Youssef, V. E. Torres & P. C. Harris: A complete mutation screen of

PKHD1 in autosomal-recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD) pedigrees. *Kidney Int*, 64, 391-403 (2003)

119. Furu, L., L. F. Onuchic, A. Gharavi, X. Hou, E. L. Esquivel, Y. Nagasawa, C. Bergmann, J. Senderek, E. Avner, K. Zerres, G. G. Germino, L. M. Guay-Woodford & S. Somlo: Milder presentation of recessive polycystic kidney disease requires presence of amino acid substitution mutations. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 14, 2004-14 (2003)

120. Bergmann, C., J. Senderek, F. Schneider, C. Dornia, F. Kupper, T. Eggermann, S. Rudnik-Schoneborn, J. Kirfel, M. Moser, R. Buttner & K. Zerres: PKHD1 mutations in families requesting prenatal diagnosis for autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD). *Hum Mutat*, 23, 487-95 (2004)

121. Adeva, M., M. El-Youssef, S. Rossetti, P. S. Kamath, V. Kubly, M. B. Consugar, D. M. Milliner, B. F. King, V. E. Torres & P. C. Harris: Clinical and molecular characterization defines a broadened spectrum of autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD). *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 85, 1-21 (2006)

122. Zerres, K., G. Mucher, J. Becker, C. Steinkamm, S. Rudnik-Schoneborn, P. Heikkila, J. Rapola, R. Salonen, G. G. Germino, L. Onuchic, S. Somlo, E. D. Avner, L. A. Harman, J. M. Stockwin & L. M. Guay-Woodford: Prenatal diagnosis of autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD): molecular genetics, clinical experience, and fetal morphology. *Am J Med Genet*, 76, 137-44 (1998)

123. Kaariainen, H., O. Koskimies & R. Norio: Dominant and recessive polycystic kidney disease in children: evaluation of clinical features and laboratory data. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 2, 296-302 (1988)

124. Guay-Woodford, L. M. & R. A. Desmond: Autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease: the clinical experience in North America. *Pediatrics*, 111, 1072-80 (2003)

125. Zerres, K., S. Rudnik-Schoneborn, F. Deget, U. Holtkamp, J. Brodehl, J. Geisert & K. Scharer: Autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease in 115 children: clinical presentation, course and influence of gender. Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Padiatrische, Nephrologie. *Acta Paediatr*, 85, 437-45 (1996)

126. Kaplan, B. S., J. Fay, V. Shah, M. J. Dillon & T. M. Barratt: Autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 3, 43-9. (1989)

127. Gunay-Aygun, M., E. D. Avner, R. L. Bacallao, P. L. Choyke, J. T. Flynn, G. G. Germino, L. Guay-Woodford, P. Harris, T. Heller, J. Ingelfinger, F. Kaskel, R. Kleta, N. F. LaRusso, P. Mohan, G. J. Pazour, B. L. Shneider, V. E. Torres, P. Wilson, C. Zak, J. Zhou & W. A. Gahl: Autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease and congenital hepatic fibrosis: summary statement of a first National Institutes of Health/Office of Rare Diseases conference. *J Pediatr*, 149, 159-64 (2006)

128. Rohatgi, R., B. Zavilowitz, M. Vergara, C. Woda, P. Kim & L. M. Satlin: Cyst fluid composition in human autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 20, 552-3 (2005)

129. Rohatgi, R., A. Greenberg, C. R. Burrow, P. D. Wilson & L. M. Satlin: Na transport in autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease (ARPKD) cyst lining epithelial cells. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 14, 827-36 (2003)

130. Loghman-Adham, M., C. E. Soto, T. Inagami & C. Sotelo-Avila: Expression of components of the reninangiotensin system in autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease. *J Histochem Cytochem*, 53, 979-88 (2005) 131. Olteanu, D., B. K. Yoder, W. Liu, M. J. Croyle, E. A. Welty, K. Rosborough, J. M. Wyss, P. D. Bell, L. M. Guay-Woodford, M. O. Bevensee, L. M. Satlin & E. M. Schwiebert: Heightened epithelial Na+ channel-mediated Na+ absorption in a murine polycystic kidney disease model epithelium lacking apical monocilia. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 290, C952-63 (2006)

132. Gagnadoux, M. F., R. Habib, M. Levy, F. Brunelle & M. Broyer: Cystic renal diseases in children. *Adv Nephrol Necker Hosp*, 18, 33-57 (1989)

133. Gattone, V. H., 2nd, R. L. Maser, C. Tian, J. M. Rosenberg & M. G. Branden: Developmental expression of urine concentration-associated genes and their altered expression in murine infantile-type polycystic kidney disease. *Dev Genet*, 24, 309-18 (1999)

134. Osathanondh, V. & E. L. Potter: Pathogenesis of cystic kidneys: historical survey; survey of results of microdissection. *Arch Path*, 77, 459-73 (1964)

135. Wilson, P. D.: Polycystic kidney disease. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 151-64 (2004)

136. Shneider, B. L. & M. S. Magid: Liver disease in autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease. *Pediatr Transplant*, 9, 634-9 (2005)

137. Hildebrandt, F. & E. Otto: Molecular genetics of nephronophthisis and medullary cystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 11, 1753-61 (2000)

138 Hildebrandt, F. & W. Zhou: Nephronophthisisassociated ciliopathies. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 18, 1855-71 (2007)

139. Hildebrandt, F., E. Otto, C. Rensing, H. G. Nothwang, M. Vollmer, J. Adolphs, H. Hanusch & M. Brandis: A novel gene encoding an SH3 domain protein is mutated in nephronophthisis type 1. *Nat Genet*, 17, 149-53 (1997)

140. Saunier, S., J. Calado, R. Heilig, F. Silbermann, F. Benessy, G. Morin, M. Konrad, M. Broyer, M. C. Gubler, J. Weissenbach & C. Antignac: A novel gene that encodes a protein with a putative src homology 3 domain is a candidate gene for familial juvenile nephronophthisis. *Hum Mol Genet*, 6, 2317-23 (1997)

141. Otto, E. A., B. Schermer, T. Obara, J. F. O'Toole, K. S. Hiller, A. M. Mueller, R. G. Ruf, J. Hoefele, F. Beekmann, D. Landau, J. W. Foreman, J. A. Goodship, T. Strachan, A. Kispert, M. T. Wolf, M. F. Gagnadoux, H. Nivet, C. Antignac, G. Walz, I. A. Drummond, T. Benzing & F. Hildebrandt: Mutations in INVS encoding inversin cause nephronophthisis type 2, linking renal cystic disease to the function of primary cilia and left-right axis determination. *Nat Genet*, 34, 413-20 (2003)

142. Olbrich, H., M. Fliegauf, J. Hoefele, A. Kispert, E. Otto, A. Volz, M. T. Wolf, G. Sasmaz, U. Trauer, R. Reinhardt, R. Sudbrak, C. Antignac, N. Gretz, G. Walz, B. Schermer, T. Benzing, F. Hildebrandt & H. Omran: Mutations in a novel gene, NPHP3, cause adolescent nephronophthisis, tapeto-retinal degeneration and hepatic fibrosis. *Nat Genet*, 34, 455-9 (2003)

143. Otto, E., J. Hoefele, R. Ruf, A. M. Mueller, K. S. Hiller, M. T. Wolf, M. J. Schuermann, A. Becker, R. Birkenhager, R. Sudbrak, H. C. Hennies, P. Nurnberg & F. Hildebrandt: A gene mutated in nephronophthisis and retinitis pigmentosa encodes a novel protein, nephroretinin, conserved in evolution. *Am J Hum Genet*, 71, 1161-7 (2002)

144. Sayer, J. A., E. A. Otto, J. F. O'Toole, G. Nurnberg, M. A. Kennedy, C. Becker, H. C. Hennies, J. Helou, M. Attanasio, B. V. Fausett, B. Utsch, H. Khanna, Y. Liu, I. Drummond, I. Kawakami, T. Kusakabe, M. Tsuda, L. Ma, H. Lee, R. G. Larson, S. J. Allen, C. J. Wilkinson, E. A. Nigg, C. Shou, C. Lillo, D. S. Williams, B. Hoppe, M. J. Kemper, T. Neuhaus, M. A. Parisi, I. A. Glass, M. Petry, A. Kispert, J. Gloy, A. Ganner, G. Walz, X. Zhu, D. Goldman, P. Nurnberg, A. Swaroop, M. R. Leroux & F. Hildebrandt: The centrosomal protein nephrocystin-6 is mutated in Joubert syndrome and activates transcription factor ATF4. *Nat Genet*, 38, 674-81 (2006)

145. Parisi, M. A., D. Doherty, M. L. Eckert, D. W. Shaw, H. Ozyurek, S. Aysun, O. Giray, A. Al Swaid, S. Al Shahwan, N. Dohayan, E. Bakhsh, O. S. Indridason, W. B. Dobyns, C. L. Bennett, P. F. Chance & I. A. Glass: AHI1 mutations cause both retinal dystrophy and renal cystic disease in Joubert syndrome. *J Med Genet*, 43, 334-9 (2006)

146. Dixon-Salazar, T., J. L. Silhavy, S. E. Marsh, C. M. Louie, L. C. Scott, A. Gururaj, L. Al-Gazali, A. A. Al-Tawari, H. Kayserili, L. Sztriha & J. G. Gleeson: Mutations in the AHI1 gene, encoding jouberin, cause Joubert syndrome with cortical polymicrogyria. *Am J Hum Genet*, 75, 979-87 (2004)

147. Potter, D. E., M. A. Holliday, C. F. Piel, N. J. Feduska, F. O. Belzer & O. Salvatierra, Jr.: Treatment of end-stage renal disease in children: a 15-year experience. *Kidney Int*, 18, 103-9 (1980)

148. Waldherr, R., T. Lennert, H. P. Weber, H. J. Fodisch & K. Scharer: The nephronophthisis complex. A

clinicopathologic study in children. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol, 394, 235-54 (1982)

149. Scolari, F., B. F. Viola, G. M. Ghiggeri, G. Caridi, A. Amoroso, L. Rampoldi & G. Casari: Towards the identification of (a) gene (s) for autosomal dominant medullary cystic kidney disease. *J Nephrol*, 16, 321-8 (2003)

150. Otto, E. A., B. Loeys, H. Khanna, J. Hellemans, R. Sudbrak, S. Fan, U. Muerb, J. F. O'Toole, J. Helou, M. Attanasio, B. Utsch, J. A. Sayer, C. Lillo, D. Jimeno, P. Coucke, A. De Paepe, R. Reinhardt, S. Klages, M. Tsuda, I. Kawakami, T. Kusakabe, H. Omran, A. Imm, M. Tippens, P. A. Raymond, J. Hill, P. Beales, S. He, A. Kispert, B. Margolis, D. S. Williams, A. Swaroop & F. Hildebrandt: Nephrocystin-5, a ciliary IQ domain protein, is mutated in Senior-Loken syndrome and interacts with RPGR and calmodulin. *Nat Genet*, 37, 282-8 (2005)

151. Gleeson, J. G., L. C. Keeler, M. A. Parisi, S. E. Marsh, P. F. Chance, I. A. Glass, J. M. Graham Jr, B. L. Maria, A. J. Barkovich & W. B. Dobyns: Molar tooth sign of the midbrain-hindbrain junction: occurrence in multiple distinct syndromes. *Am J Med Genet A*, 125, 125-34; discussion 117 (2004)

152. Castori, M., E. M. Valente, M. A. Donati, S. Salvi, E. Fazzi, E. Procopio, T. Galluccio, F. Emma, B. Dallapiccola & E. Bertini: NPHP1 gene deletion is a rare cause of Joubert syndrome related disorders. *J Med Genet*, 42, e9 (2005)

153. Utsch, B., J. A. Sayer, M. Attanasio, R. R. Pereira, M. Eccles, H. C. Hennies, E. A. Otto & F. Hildebrandt: Identification of the first AHI1 gene mutations in nephronophthisis-associated Joubert syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 21, 32-5 (2006)

154. Betz, R., C. Rensing, E. Otto, A. Mincheva, D. Zehnder, P. Lichter & F. Hildebrandt: Children with ocular motor apraxia type Cogan carry deletions in the gene (NPHP1) for juvenile nephronophthisis. *J Pediatr*, 136, 828-31 (2000)

155. Mollet, G., R. Salomon, O. Gribouval, F. Silbermann, D. Bacq, G. Landthaler, D. Milford, A. Nayir, G. Rizzoni, C. Antignac & S. Saunier: The gene mutated in juvenile nephronophthisis type 4 encodes a novel protein that interacts with nephrocystin. *Nat Genet*, 32, 300-5 (2002)

156. Delaney, V., J. Mullaney & E. Bourke: Juvenile nephronophthisis, congenital hepatic fibrosis and retinal hypoplasia in twins. *Q J Med*, 47, 281-90 (1978)

157. Boichis, H., J. Passwell, R. David & H. Miller: Congenital hepatic fibrosis and nephronophthisis. A family study. *Q J Med*, 42, 221-33 (1973)

158. Mainzer, F., R. M. Saldino, M. B. Ozonoff & H. Minagi: Familial nephropathy associated with retinitis

pigmentosa, cerebellar ataxia and skeletal abnormalities. *Am J Med*, 49, 556-62 (1970)

159. Mochizuki, T., Y. Saijoh, K. Tsuchiya, Y. Shirayoshi, S. Takai, C. Taya, H. Yonekawa, K. Yamada, H. Nihei, N. Nakatsuji, P. A. Overbeek, H. Hamada & T. Yokoyama: Cloning of inv, a gene that controls left/right asymmetry and kidney development. *Nature*, 395, 177-81 (1998)

160. Bleyer, A. J., T. C. Hart, M. C. Willingham, S. S. Iskandar, M. C. Gorry & H. Trachtman: Clinico-pathologic findings in medullary cystic kidney disease type 2. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 20, 824-7 (2005)

161. Wolf, M. T., B. E. Mucha, M. Attanasio, I. Zalewski, S. M. Karle, H. P. Neumann, N. Rahman, B. Bader, C. A. Baldamus, E. Otto, R. Witzgall, A. Fuchshuber & F. Hildebrandt: Mutations of the Uromodulin gene in MCKD type 2 patients cluster in exon 4, which encodes three EGFlike domains. *Kidney Int*, 64, 1580-7 (2003)

162. Cameron, J. S. & H. A. Simmonds: Hereditary hyperuricemia and renal disease. *Semin Nephrol*, 25, 9-18 (2005)

163. Dahan, K., A. Fuchshuber, S. Adamis, M. Smaers, S. Kroiss, G. Loute, J. P. Cosyns, F. Hildebrandt, C. Verellen-Dumoulin & Y. Pirson: Familial juvenile hyperuricemic nephropathy and autosomal dominant medullary cystic kidney disease type 2: two facets of the same disease? *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 12, 2348-57 (2001)

164. McBride, M. B., S. Rigden, G. B. Haycock, N. Dalton, W. Van't Hoff, L. Rees, G. V. Raman, F. Moro, C. S. Ogg, J. S. Cameron & H. A. Simmonds: Presymptomatic detection of familial juvenile hyperuricaemic nephropathy in children. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 12, 357-64 (1998)

165. Tobin, J. L. & P. L. Beales: Bardet-Biedl syndrome: beyond the cilium. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 22, 926-36 (2007)

166. Katsanis, N., E. R. Eichers, S. J. Ansley, R. A. Lewis, H. Kayserili, B. E. Hoskins, P. J. Scambler, P. L. Beales & J. R. Lupski: BBS4 is a minor contributor to Bardet-Biedl syndrome and may also participate in triallelic inheritance. *Am J Hum Genet*, 71, 22-9 (2002)

167. Beales, P. L., J. L. Badano, A. J. Ross, S. J. Ansley, B. E. Hoskins, B. Kirsten, C. A. Mein, P. Froguel, P. J. Scambler, R. A. Lewis, J. R. Lupski & N. Katsanis: Genetic interaction of BBS1 mutations with alleles at other BBS loci can result in non-Mendelian Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet*, 72, 1187-99 (2003)

168. Badano, J. L., J. C. Kim, B. E. Hoskins, R. A. Lewis, S. J. Ansley, D. J. Cutler, C. Castellan, P. L. Beales, M. R. Leroux & N. Katsanis: Heterozygous mutations in BBS1, BBS2 and BBS6 have a potential epistatic effect on Bardet-Biedl patients with two mutations at a second BBS locus. *Hum Mol Genet*, 12, 1651-9 (2003) 169. Gropman, A. L. & D. R. Adams: Atypical patterns of inheritance. *Semin Pediatr Neurol*, 14, 34-45 (2007)

170. Smaoui, N., M. Chaabouni, Y. V. Sergeev, H. Kallel, S. Li, N. Mahfoudh, F. Maazoul, H. Kammoun, N. Gandoura, A. Bouaziz, E. Nouiri, R. M'Rad, H. Chaabouni & J. F. Hejtmancik: Screening of the eight BBS genes in Tunisian families: no evidence of triallelism. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 47, 3487-95 (2006)

171. Woods, M. O., T. L. Young, P. S. Parfrey, D. Hefferton, J. S. Green & W. S. Davidson: Genetic heterogeneity of Bardet-Biedl syndrome in a distinct Canadian population: evidence for a fifth locus. *Genomics*, 55, 2-9 (1999)

172. Green, J. S., P. S. Parfrey, J. D. Harnett, N. R. Farid, B. C. Cramer, G. Johnson, O. Heath, P. J. McManamon, E. O'Leary & W. Pryse-Phillips: The cardinal manifestations of Bardet-Biedl syndrome, a form of Laurence-Moon-Biedl syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 321, 1002-9 (1989)

173. Iannello, S., P. Bosco, A. Cavaleri, M. Camuto, P. Milazzo & F. Belfiore: A review of the literature of Bardet-Biedl disease and report of three cases associated with metabolic syndrome and diagnosed after the age of fifty. *Obes Rev*, 3, 123-35 (2002)

174. Teebi, A. S.: Autosomal recessive disorders among Arabs: an overview from Kuwait. *J Med Genet*, 31, 224-33 (1994)

175. O'Dea, D., P. S. Parfrey, J. D. Harnett, D. Hefferton, B. C. Cramer & J. Green: The importance of renal impairment in the natural history of Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 27, 776-83 (1996)

176. Beales, P. L., N. Elcioglu, A. S. Woolf, D. Parker & F. A. Flinter: New criteria for improved diagnosis of Bardet-Biedl syndrome: results of a population survey. *J Med Genet*, 36, 437-46 (1999)

177. Dippell, J. & D. E. Varlam: Early sonographic aspects of kidney morphology in Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 12, 559-63 (1998)

178. Alton, D. J. & P. McDonald: Urographic findings in the Bardet-Biedl syndrome, formerly the Laurence-Moon-Biedl syndrome. *Radiology*, 109, 659-63 (1973)

179. Harnett, J. D., J. S. Green, B. C. Cramer, G. Johnson, L. Chafe, P. McManamon, N. R. Farid, W. Pryse-Phillips & P. S. Parfrey: The spectrum of renal disease in Laurence-Moon-Biedl syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 319, 615-8 (1988)

180. Tieder, M., M. Levy, M. C. Gubler, M. F. Gagnadoux & M. Broyer: Renal abnormalities in the Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Int J Pediatr Nephrol*, 3, 199-203 (1982)

181. Beales, P. L., H. A. Reid, M. H. Griffiths, E. R. Maher, F. A. Flinter & A. S. Woolf: Renal cancer and

malformations in relatives of patients with Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 15, 1977-85 (2000)

182. Feather, S. A., A. S. Woolf, D. Donnai, S. Malcolm & R. M. Winter: The oral-facial-digital syndrome type 1 (OFD1), a cause of polycystic kidney disease and associated malformations, maps to Xp22.2-Xp22.3. *Hum Mol Genet*, 6, 1163-7 (1997)

183. de Conciliis, L., A. Marchitiello, M. C. Wapenaar, G. Borsani, S. Giglio, M. Mariani, G. G. Consalez, O. Zuffardi, B. Franco, A. Ballabio & S. Banfi: Characterization of Cxorf5 (71-7A), a novel human cDNA mapping to Xp22 and encoding a protein containing coiled-coil alpha-helical domains. *Genomics*, 51, 243-50 (1998)

184. Ferrante, M. I., G. Giorgio, S. A. Feather, A. Bulfone, V. Wright, M. Ghiani, A. Selicorni, L. Gammaro, F. Scolari, A. S. Woolf, O. Sylvie, L. Bernard, S. Malcolm, R. Winter, A. Ballabio & B. Franco: Identification of the gene for oral-facial-digital type I syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet*, 68, 569-76 (2001)

185. Wahrman, J., M. Berant, J. Jacobs, I. Aviad & N. Ben-Hur: The oral-facial-digital syndrome: a male-lethal condition in a boy with 47/xxy chromosomes. *Pediatrics*, 37, 812-21 (1966)

186. Thauvin-Robinet, C., M. Cossee, V. Cormier-Daire, L. Van Maldergem, A. Toutain, Y. Alembik, E. Bieth, V. Layet, P. Parent, A. David, A. Goldenberg, G. Mortier, D. Heron, P. Sagot, A. M. Bouvier, F. Huet, V. Cusin, A. Donzel, D. Devys, J. R. Teyssier & L. Faivre: Clinical, molecular, and genotype-phenotype correlation studies from 25 cases of oral-facial-digital syndrome type 1: a French and Belgian collaborative study. *J Med Genet*, 43, 54-61 (2006)

187. Salinas, C. F., G. S. Pai, C. L. Vera, J. Milutinovic, R. Hagerty, J. D. Cooper & D. R. Cagna: Variability of expression of the orofaciodigital syndrome type I in black females: six cases. *Am J Med Genet*, 38, 574-82 (1991)

188. Scolari, F., B. Valzorio, O. Carli, V. Vizzardi, E. Costantino, L. Grazioli, M. P. Bondioni, S. Savoldi & R. Maiorca: Oral-facial-digital syndrome type I: an unusual cause of hereditary cystic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 12, 1247-50 (1997)

189. Woolf, A. S., S. A. Feather & C. Bingham: Recent insights into kidney diseases associated with glomerular cysts. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 17, 229-35 (2002)

190. Stapleton, F. B., J. Bernstein, G. Koh, S. Roy, 3rd & R. S. Wilroy: Cystic kidneys in a patient with oral-facialdigital syndrome type I. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 1, 288-93 (1982)

191. Odent, S., B. Le Marec, A. Toutain, A. David, J. Vigneron, C. Treguier, H. Jouan, J. Milon, J. P. Fryns & A. Verloes: Central nervous system malformations and early end-stage renal disease in oro-facio-digital syndrome type I: a review. *Am J Med Genet*, 75, 389-94 (1998)

192. Anneren, G., B. Arvidson, K. H. Gustavson, H. Jorulf & G. Carlsson: Oro-facio-digital syndromes I and II: radiological methods for diagnosis and the clinical variations. *Clin Genet*, 26, 178-86 (1984)

193. van Slegtenhorst, M., R. de Hoogt, C. Hermans, M. Nellist, B. Janssen, S. Verhoef, D. Lindhout, A. van den Ouweland, D. Halley, J. Young, M. Burley, S. Jeremiah, K. Woodward, J. Nahmias, M. Fox, R. Ekong, J. Osborne, J. Wolfe, S. Povey, R. G. Snell, J. P. Cheadle, A. C. Jones, M. Tachataki, D. Ravine, J. R. Sampson, M. P. Reeve, P. Richardson, F. Wilmer, C. Munro, T. L. Hawkins, T. Sepp, J. B. Ali, S. Ward, A. J. Green, J. R. Yates, J. Kwiatkowska, E. P. Henske, M. P. Short, J. H. Haines, S. Jozwiak & D. J. Kwiatkowski: Identification of the tuberous sclerosis gene TSC1 on chromosome 9q34. *Science*, 277, 805-8 (1997)

194. Identification and characterization of the tuberous sclerosis gene on chromosome 16. *Cell*, 75, 1305-15 (1993)

195. Carbonara, C., L. Longa, E. Grosso, C. Borrone, M. G. Garre, M. Brisigotti & N. Migone: 9q34 loss of heterozygosity in a tuberous sclerosis astrocytoma suggests a growth suppressor-like activity also for the TSC1 gene. *Hum Mol Genet*, 3, 1829-32 (1994)

196. Green, A. J., M. Smith & J. R. Yates: Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 16p13.3 in hamartomas from tuberous sclerosis patients. *Nat Genet*, 6, 193-6 (1994)

197. Dabora, S. L., S. Jozwiak, D. N. Franz, P. S. Roberts, A. Nieto, J. Chung, Y. S. Choy, M. P. Reeve, E. Thiele, J. C. Egelhoff, J. Kasprzyk-Obara, D. Domanska-Pakiela & D. J. Kwiatkowski: Mutational analysis in a cohort of 224 tuberous sclerosis patients indicates increased severity of TSC2, compared with TSC1, disease in multiple organs. *Am J Hum Genet*, 68, 64-80 (2001)

198. O'Callaghan, F. J., A. W. Shiell, J. P. Osborne & C. N. Martyn: Prevalence of tuberous sclerosis estimated by capture-recapture analysis. *Lancet*, 351, 1490 (1998)

199. Laass, M. W., M. Spiegel, A. Jauch, G. Hahn, E. Rupprecht, C. Vogelberg, O. Bartsch & A. Huebner: Tuberous sclerosis and polycystic kidney disease in a 3-month-old infant. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 19, 602-8 (2004)

200. Henske, E. P.: Tuberous sclerosis and the kidney: from mesenchyme to epithelium, and beyond. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 20, 854-7 (2005)

201. Brook-Carter, P. T., B. Peral, C. J. Ward, P. Thompson, J. Hughes, M. M. Maheshwar, M. Nellist, V. Gamble, P. C. Harris & J. R. Sampson: Deletion of the TSC2 and PKD1 genes associated with severe infantile polycystic kidney disease--a contiguous gene syndrome. *Nat Genet*, 8, 328-32 (1994)

202. Diskin, C. J., T. J. Stokes, L. M. Dansby, T. B. Carter, L. Radcliff & D. Monteil: Diagnosis of tuberous sclerosis

in a patient who presented with polycystic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 15, 547-8 (2000)

203. Chatha, R. K., A. M. Johnson, P. G. Rothberg, R. R. Townsend, H. P. Neumann & P. A. Gabow: Von Hippel-Lindau disease masquerading as autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 37, 852-8 (2001)

204. Latif, F., K. Tory, J. Gnarra, M. Yao, F. M. Duh, M. L. Orcutt, T. Stackhouse, I. Kuzmin, W. Modi, L. Geil & et al.: Identification of the von Hippel-Lindau disease tumor suppressor gene. *Science*, 260, 1317-20 (1993)

205. Chauveau, D., C. Duvic, Y. Chretien, F. Paraf, D. Droz, P. Melki, O. Helenon, S. Richard & J. P. Grunfeld: Renal involvement in von Hippel-Lindau disease. *Kidney Int*, 50, 944-51 (1996)

206. Browne, G., J. A. Jefferson, G. D. Wright, A. E. Hughes, C. C. Doherty, N. C. Nevin & J. A. Keogh: Von Hippel-Lindau disease: an important differential diagnosis of polycystic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 12, 1132-6 (1997)

207. Lamiell, J. M., F. G. Salazar & Y. E. Hsia: von Hippel-Lindau disease affecting 43 members of a single kindred. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 68, 1-29 (1989)

208. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 39, S1-266 (2002)

209. Belibi, F. A., G. Reif, D. P. Wallace, T. Yamaguchi, L. Olsen, H. Li, G. M. Helmkamp, Jr. & J. J. Grantham: Cyclic AMP promotes growth and secretion in human polycystic kidney epithelial cells. *Kidney Int*, 66, 964-73 (2004)

210. Gattone, V. H., 2nd, X. Wang, P. C. Harris & V. E. Torres: Inhibition of renal cystic disease development and progression by a vasopressin V2 receptor antagonist. *Nat Med*, 9, 1323-6 (2003)

211. Nagao, S., K. Nishii, M. Katsuyama, H. Kurahashi, T. Marunouchi, H. Takahashi & D. P. Wallace: Increased water intake decreases progression of polycystic kidney disease in the PCK rat. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 17, 2220-7 (2006)

212. Masyuk, T. V., A. I. Masyuk, V. E. Torres, P. C. Harris & N. F. Larusso: Octreotide inhibits hepatic cystogenesis in a rodent model of polycystic liver disease by reducing cholangiocyte adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 1104-16 (2007)

213. Ruggenenti, P., A. Remuzzi, P. Ondei, G. Fasolini, L. Antiga, B. Ene-Iordache, G. Remuzzi & F. H. Epstein: Safety and efficacy of long-acting somatostatin treatment in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 68, 206-16 (2005)

214. Inoki, K., M. N. Corradetti & K. L. Guan: Dysregulation of the TSC-mTOR pathway in human disease. *Nat Genet*, 37, 19-24 (2005)

215. Shillingford, J. M., N. S. Murcia, C. H. Larson, S. H. Low, R. Hedgepeth, N. Brown, C. A. Flask, A. C. Novick, D. A. Goldfarb, A. Kramer-Zucker, G. Walz, K. B. Piontek, G. G. Germino & T. Weimbs: The mTOR pathway is regulated by polycystin-1, and its inhibition reverses renal cystogenesis in polycystic kidney disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 5466-71 (2006)

216. Tao, Y., J. Kim, R. W. Schrier & C. L. Edelstein: Rapamycin markedly slows disease progression in a rat model of polycystic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 16, 46-51 (2005)

217. Wahl, P. R., A. L. Serra, M. Le Hir, K. D. Molle, M. N. Hall & R. P. Wuthrich: Inhibition of mTOR with sirolimus slows disease progression in Han:SPRD rats with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD). *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 21, 598-604 (2006)

218. Nicolau, C., R. Torra, C. Badenas, R. Vilana, L. Bianchi, R. Gilabert, A. Darnell & C. Bru: Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease types 1 and 2: assessment of US sensitivity for diagnosis. *Radiology*, 213, 273-6 (1999)

219. Ravine, D., R. N. Gibson, R. G. Walker, L. J. Sheffield, P. Kincaid-Smith & D. M. Danks: Evaluation of ultrasonographic diagnostic criteria for autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease 1. *Lancet*, 343, 824-7 (1994)

220 Pei, Y.: Diagnostic Approach in Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease. *C J Am Soc Nephrol*, 1, 1108-1114 (2006)

221. Hildebrandt, F., B. Strahm, H. G. Nothwang, N. Gretz, B. Schnieders, I. Singh-Sawhney, R. Kutt, M. Vollmer & M. Brandis: Molecular genetic identification of families with juvenile nephronophthisis type 1: rate of progression to renal failure. APN Study Group. Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Padiatrische Nephrologie. *Kidney Int*, 51, 261-9 (1997)

222. Hoefele, J., E. Otto, H. Felten, K. Kuhn, T. A. Bley, I. Zauner, F. Hildebrandt & H. P. Neumann: Clinical and histological presentation of 3 siblings with mutations in the NPHP4 gene. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 43, 358-64 (2004)

Abbreviations: ADPKD: autsomal dominant polycystic kidney disease; ARPKD: autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease; NPHP: nephronophthisis; MCKD: medullary cystic kidney disease; BBS: Bardel-Biedel syndrome; OFD: oral-facial-digital syndrome; TSC: tuberous sclerosis; ESRD: end stage renal disease; PC-1: polycystin-1; PC-2: polycystin-2; MDRD: Modification of Diet in Renal Disease; BP: blood pressure; GFR: glomerular filtration rate; MAP: mean arterial pressure; LVH: left ventricular hypertrophy; LVMI: left ventricular mass index; RAS: renin-angiotensin system; ACEi: angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB: angiotensin receptor blocker; CT: computed tomography; MRI: magnetic resonance imaging; NSAIDS: nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs; PET: positron emission tomography; ICA: intracerebral aneurysms; MRA: magnetic resonance angiogram; US: United States; SLS: Senior-Loken syndrome; JS: Jouberts syndrome; CS: Cogans syndrome; UMDO: uromodulin; FJHN: familial juvenile hyperuricemic nephropathy; V2: vasopressin type 2 receptor

Key Words: polycystic kidney disease, autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease, autosomal recessive polycystic kidney disease, nephronophthisis, medullary cystic kidney disease, Bardel-Biedl syndrome, oral-facialdigital syndrome, tuberous sclerosis, von Hippel-Lindau, review

Send correspondence to: Dr Rajeev Rohatgi, The Mount Sinai School of Medicine, One Gustave L. Levy Place, Box 1243, New York, New York 10029, Tel: 212-241-7240, Fax: 212-426-1972, E-mail: Rajeev.Rohatgi@mssm.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm